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F I N A N C I A L H I ¢ H L T G H T 8§
{all amounts expressed in thousands, except per share amounts)
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Net Sales:
Defense $ 406,301 360,001 243,447 183,454 142,044 66,381
Communications and Space Products $ 81641 55,458 47,262 39,998 30,027
Engineered Materials $ 48231 45,208 38,167 36,509 34,751 31,555
Total $ 536,173 460,667 328,876 259,961 206,822 97,936
Operating Earnings $ 523801 30,928 29,385 27,076 8,239 8,249
Net Interest Expense $ (7,848) (8,152) (4,956) (2,216) (2,438) (785)
Dividends on Preferred Shares - - - (194) (881) {1,000)
Net Earnings Available for Common Shares $ 29,068 14,809 10,629 14,758 440 1,020
Capital Expenditures $ 14,206 8,865 7,093 14,298 3,861 4,032
Company Funded Research and Development Expense $ 11,620 8,594 8,492 8,750 5371 2,748
Funded Backlog $ 474,605 462,327 375,029 294,812 252,888 133,880
Shareholders' Equity $ 211,928 190,332 168,273 174,498 65,818 40,241
EBITDA, as adjusted” $ 75035 66,807 51,184 37,037 27,307 11,127
Weighted Average Common Shares - Diluted™* 22,377 17 561 17,379 14,254 10,662 8,032
Earnings Per Diluted Common Share:
Continuing Operations $ 1.49 0.76 0.81 1.09 0.05 0.65
Discontinued Operations - 0.08 - 0.02 - (0.50)
Cumulative Effect of a Change in Accounting Principle - - {0.20) - - -
Diluted Net Earnings $ 1.49 0.84 0.61 1,11 0.05 0.15
Cash Dividends $ 0.12 0.12 0.12 0.12 0.12 0.12

* Excludes unusual items, and pension and ESOP expense or income.

“*The "Weighted Average Common Shares - Diluted” does not represent the actual number of shares outstanding.
Rather, it represents the number of shares required to calculate diluted earnings per share under Generally Accepted

Accounting Principles (GAAP).
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Since 1999, EDO’s revenues have increased more than five-fold, with a ten-fold increase in diluted
earnings per share. These improving fundamentals, as well as strong prospects for future growth,
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D E R S L E T T E R

To Our Shareholders,

EDO continues to surge ahead. Over the past year,
we set new EDO records for all major benchmarks
of shareholder value, including revenue, earnings per

share, and market capitalization.

Independent observers, such as Fortune Magazine,
Forbes Magazine, and Standard and Poor’s, are
recognizing our results. Forbes has included us among
their 25 fastest-growing technology companies. For
the second year in a row, EDO made the list of
Fortune’s 100 fastest-growing companies. And
Standard and Poor’s found EDO to be among the top
three percent of alf publicly traded companies in

terms of "total return” over the past 10 years. In a

James M. Smith
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

study commissioned by Research Magazine, S&P

calculated a compounded annual return of 22,18
percent for the [0-year period ending September

2004, a rather remarkable accomplishment.

While we are proud of our accomplishments, they
are just a springboard for reaching our vision of the

future. That vision is of a.larger, more technically

Over the past year, we set new records for all major diverse company with broader
benchmarks of shareholder value, including revenue, marketplace participation, both
earnings per share, and market capitalization. domestic and international, along with

long-term, bedrock-strong, financial
stability. | believe that we have the determination

and capability to achieve this goal.
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This annual report features just a few of the talented people responsible for our current success and they
represent the basis for our confidence in achieving our future goals. Look closely at each picture, and you will
clearly see their pride and determination. | share that pride in the performance of our entire EDO team. We

are united in our desire to move ahead in this competitive business.

Strategy for Sustainable Growth

The core of our management team was formed with the merger of EDO and AIL Systems in early 2000.
Subsequent acquisitions and key hires have only strengthened our team. In 2000 we set in motion a strategy
to build a strong platform for growth — one that would transform EDO into a dynamic new company with a
broader vision of its role in our industry. Our goal is to increase considerably the major role we currently
play as a significant tier-one supplier to the industry primes, and to the government directly. We believe that

both our investment and acquisition decisions continue to make significant progress towards that goal.

Our strategy has two components: sustained

i h and th isiti f i . . .
organic growth and the acquisition of companies ., . focus has been on technologies that will help in

the transformation to a smarter, lighter, and faster
military capability.

with clear synergistic opportunities. Together,
this combination has generated compounded
revenue growth of more than 40 percent per

year since 1999.

Organic Growth

A portfolio of products and services that can withstand the well-known cycles of defense spending and the
risks inherent in these cycles will drive sustainable organic growth. EDO, with a management team armed
with many years of collective experience in this industry, is building a diverse range of products, on a broad
base of platforms, across all branches of the military, in both domestic and international markets, to

counteract these risks.

Our focus has been on technologies that will help in the transformation to a smarter, lighter, and faster
military capability. This includes key areas of electronics, force protection, communications, network-enabled
aircraft armament systems, high-performance composite materials, new techniques in undersea warfare, and

sophisticated engineering services.
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Future performance is also supported by our positions on major platforms, such as weapon-release systems
for the F-35 Joint Strike Fighter and the F/A-22 Raptor, the upgrade of the electronic defensive suite on the
B-1B bomber, and the reconnaissance and surveillance capabilities we provide to the Virginia-class submarine.
We added an important platform win in 2004 for proprietary interference-cancellation technology on the
E/A-18G aircraft, and we continue to position ourselves for a number of other equally strategic opportunities

in the future.

Acquisitions

Our aggressive growth targets, in line with those already
reached, cannot be achieved through organic growth
alone. We must continue to find acquisitions that fit
exactly right — financially, operationally, and culturally.
While this is an extremely difficult challenge, | believe that
our track record to date has been excellent. Every
acquisition made under this management team has been
successful and has contributed to our pace-setting total

return to shareholders.

We are seeking acquisitions that either bring significant
additions to our base of niche products, or synergistically
strengthen existing product lines. We also look for solid
management and long-term partners. It is only when all of

the necessary elements are in place that we complete an

1
i i

acquisition.
J @

>

Key members of EDO’s acquisitioﬁ team -
Gayle Lombardi, Director - Tax
Chester Han, Mergers & Acquisitions Anaiyst

opportunity to excel as part of a larger and stronger Scott Weiner, Director - Corporate Development

But when we do, the acquired company joins EDO as a

full participant, with the management team given the

o,

corporation. This is why a compatible corporate culture is
a critical precursor of successful integration into the EDO

team.

EDO Corporation 2004 Annual Report




Integrating Acquisitions
In 2004, we focused a great deal of attention on gaining additional efficiencies from the six acquisitions made

over the past five years.

In the Washington D.C. suburb of Shirlington, Va., we consolidated six separate professional-services
operations into one new facility. In both New York and California, we are consolidating major
manufacturing operations into modern, right-sized facilities and locking in long-term productivity and other

cost-efficiency gains.

While such investments affect near-term cash flow, they will generate substantial long-term benefits in terms
of efficiency, competitiveness and a stronger and more viable EDO. Although only partially completed, our
integration efforts helped to reduce SG&A expenses to 14.7 percent of revenue in 2004, from 15.6 percent

in the prior year. Further improvements are expected as we complete our integration plans.

We are focused on building an ever stronger and more diverse oy g0
& & We are focused on building an ever stronger

and more diverse EDO and continuing
our efforts in every way to improve
shareholder value.

EDO and continuing our efforts in every way to improve
shareholder value. We have a systematic process to find the
best acquisitions, to integrate them into our business, and then

to effectively align the assets for future business development.

Our Engineering Culture

The common thread through all of our products is high engineering content. EDO is an engineering-driven
company. Even more important, EDO is a team-driven company. Our engineers are supported by outstanding
professionals across the breadth of capabilities necessary to the success of our high-tempo efforts in a
growing corporation. Our talented people love to solve problems. That’s what we do best. Our product lines
reflect this, with breakthrough designs and leading-edge products that have addressed seemingly

insurmountable challenges. You will see examples throughout this annual report.

To stay on the leading edge — not running to catch up — we strive to develop our talent and keep current

with rapidly changing technology. We empower EDQO people to continually look for ways to improve our
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products and to pursue their individual professional development. This is the real foundation for future
growth.

Corporate Governance _

In 2004, we took steps throughout the corporation to further strengthen our training and awareness efforts
to assure that our business, at every level, is managed professionally and with the highest standards of ethics
and integrity. At our annual meeting, we received overwhelming shareholder approval of our proposal to
eliminate the staggered board, with 89 percent of all outstanding shares being voted in favor of the proposal.
Each board member will now stand for election annually, giving shareholders the opportunity to judge our

performance each year.

We have added three excellent new members to our board, each with outstanding experience and qualifi-
cations in the defense industry, Robert Tyrer, Robert Walmsley, and Paul Kern. These new board members
collectively bring a diversity of background and perspective — and each brings dedication — to the task of
guiding us to improved shareholder value. With the exception of myself as Chairman, all of our directors are

independent of management, and all board committees are composed solely of independent directors.

We are proud to say that our focus on good corporate governance led ISS (Institutional Shareholder Services,
the leading independent ranking firm), to rate EDO among the top [0 percent of all companies in the
S&P 600 index in corporate governance practices (as of February |, 2005).

A Bright Future
Looking ahead, we plan to continue the growth strategy that was put in place in early 2000. | see a bright

future for EDO and invite you, our shareholders, to continue to move ahead with us.

| thank you for your past support and look forward to reporting our continued progress.

James M. Smith

" President and Chief Executive Officer

March 1, 2005

R
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On October 16, 2004, EDO began its 80th year of

continuous operation.

Although our founder, Earl Dodge Osborn, dreamed of
building airplanes, his first successful product line was
“floats" that enabled planes to land on water. Because of a
new innovative design, the use of aluminum rather than
wood, and the simple fact that good runways were hard to
find in the 1920s, demand built quickly for EDO floats. This
1934 picture of an early seaplane facility in Manhattan
shows a TWA Ford Tri-Motor plane mounted on EDO
floats. (The Lincoln Building, now the site of EDO’s corporate
headquarters, can be seen to the left of the Empire State
Building.)

The company’s focus shifted with the outbreak of World
War |l, and EDO began to provide floats for military
planes. We have been proudly serving the cause of our

nation’s defense ever since.

Because floats were the company’s only significant product,
EDO's business declined dramatically when the war ended.
But eventually, the company's engineering expertise in new
technologies, such as sonar, began to restore growth and
profitability. EDO became a public company in 1956 with
its listing on the American Stock Exchange, and moved to
the New York Stock Exchange in 1983.

Airborne Instruments Laboraion s N
September 1, 1945 by a group of scientists led by
Dr. Hector R. Skifter, TH ‘

waorking toget

serve the war effor
began to explore other opportunities for electronics. One
of AlL’s first projects was to evaluate the potential role of
radar in air traffic control at New York’s LaGuardia
Airport. The company has been at the forefront of radar

and other sensor technologies ever since.

The peace dividend following the fall of communism

was a resounding success for the free world. However,

it meant severe cutbacks for both EDO and AlL. Facing a
difficult outlook, the companies joined forces in 2000 and
set a new course for the combined EDO Corporation.
This included a new management team with a vision to

be an industry leader. With five more acquisitions since
then, EDO’s revenue base has grown five-fold since 1999,
and we expect it to more than double again over the next

few years.

EDO has a strong heritage. We are proud of our
contributions to the national defense and of our return
to shareholders. We are striving to extend this record
of performance into the future, as you will see on the

following pages.
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BMBAAM Yertical Biect Launcher |
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Aid DeSimint. 10 maintain stealth, the release must be so
fast that enemy radar cannot detect it, but without
compromising control and safe ejection. Our engineering
challenges involved many previously impossible

"

specifications, and we have solved them all

F/A-22 production is expected to generate a reliable

revenue stream for at least eight yea
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Electronic Force Protection

EDO'’s highest priority is to quickly fill the Army’s orders

for our electronic force protection equipment known as

Warlock. Although we have been developing various
versions of this technology for more than 14 years, the S B
urgency to convert the Warlock version into a working '
product became intense in 2004, as our troops came A T L e
under attack from roadside bombs. Now that the . o :
product has been proven in the field, the Army’s primary o oL o . ) -

emphasis has shifted to increasing production, and
substantial additional orders have already been received e iE

for delivery in 2005.

Warlock, as described by the Army, provides a

protective "electronic bubble for vehicles, dismounted ' A ’
operations in conjunction with vehicles, and for fixed B o L
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Electronic Support Measures \
The ES 3701, EDO’s flagship Electronic Support Measures

(ESM) product, is used by navies worldwide to provide

situational awareness and ship self-protection. It quickly

recognizes and identifies threatening electronic signals and

pinpoints their exact direction, even among interfering

transmissions.

Dick Ewbank (seated) is the principal systems engineer and

-precision ESM system-is essential
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Electronic Intelligence

EDO has substantial expertise in the areas of electronic
intelligence, reconnaissance, and surveillance. Much of our :
internal research and development effort is focused on =

maintaining our competitive edge in these key "\

ey,

technologies.

More than 30 of these systems have been sold to the U.S.

Navy over the
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bide Arm™ |

Al ot EDO s internal research and development is this

Engineer Cesar Philippidis approached the project

olutio new design, using a single-board

applications. "Actually,” he said, "I laid out my idea for this
design in about 20 minutes. But it took six months to

ove that it would work."

rding to Scott Case, the senior systems engineer who
is leading the Side Arm program, Philippidis’ original design
proved to be flawless. "To have such a complex new
design be-error free is really unheard of," said Case. "We
ect this superior technology to have very substantial

otential.”
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Bavy's submarine Exterior Communications System
EDO has been providing ECS subsystems on the Virginia-

class submarine - the Navy's newest attack sub — as well
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Robert E. Allen James M. Smith Ronald L. Leach George M. Ball Sir Robert Walmsley Dennis C. Blair
Managing Director Chairman, President and CEQ Former Chairman and Chairman President and CEQ
Redding Consultants, Inc. EDO Corporation Vice President, Managing Director EDO (UK) Ltd. institute for Defense Analysis
Accounting, Philpott, Bali & Werner Admiral U.S. Navy (Ret.)

Eaton Corporation
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President and Former Managing
Chief Operating Officer Director
The Cohen Group Trust Company

of the West

Leslie F. Kenne James Roth
Lieutenant General Former President
U.S. Air Force (Ret.) and CEO

GRC International Inc.

Robert Alvine
Chairman, President
and CEO
i-Ten Management
Corp

Michael ). Hegarty Paul Kern
President General U.S. Army
and CEO (Ret.)
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Effie Paviou Scott M. Weiner
Controller

Director - Corporate Development

e

Michael Bechara
Director - Internal Audit

William A. Walkowiak

Director - Investor Relations and
Corporate Communications




Frank W. Otto George P. Fox, Jr. Milo W. Hyde
Executive Vice President and COO Group Vice President - Electronic Systems Group Vice President - Systems and Analysis
Julius Caesar Joseph Cangelosi Peter J. McVeigh
Vice President Vice President Vice President

Professional & Engineering Services Integrated Systems & Structures Sensors & Force Protection Systems




Gayle Lombardi Ed Mygland
Directar - Tax Director - Business Development
William Bender Frederic A. Lanes Art Causin
Director Corporate Director Director
Contracts Management Business Operations Corporate Compliance

Business Unit Managers

James Barber
General Manager
MTech

James Brunelle
General Manager
Combat Systems

Timothy Davis
General Manager
Communications & Countermeasures Systems

Thomas Gardiner
General Manager
Technical Services Operations

David Jones
Managing Director
EDO (UK) Ltd.

Gary Nelson
General Manager
Professional Services

Donald Newsome
Vice President & General Manager
Reconnaissance & Surveillance Systems

Ruby Pritchard
General Manager
Antenna Products & Technologies

Gary Springfield
General Manager
Electro-Ceramic Products

Michael Therson
General Manager
Fiber Science and Specialty Plastics

William Wabhlig
General Manager

Marine & Aircraft Systems 3
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EDO CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(Nor Covereo By Inpepenoent AupiTor’s ReporTs)

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Statement of Earnings Data:

Net sales $ 536,173  $ 460,667 S 328876 $ 259,961 § 206,822
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales 392,961 338,259 240,850 189,733 151,512
Selling, general and administrative 78,791 71,855 47,584 34,013 29,205
Research and development 11,620 8,594 8,492 8,750 5,371
Other expenses (income)? — 1,871 2,565 389 11,495
Impairment loss on Deer Park facility — 9,160 — — —
483,372 429,739 299,491 232,885 197,583
Operating earnings 52,801 30,928 29,385 27,076 9,239
Net interest expense (7,848) (8,152) (4,956) (2,216) (2,438)
Other non-operating (expense) income, net (319) 279 (95) 971) (216)
(8,167) (7,873) (5,051) (3,187) (2,654)
Earnings before income taxes and cumulative
effect of a change in accounting principle 44,634 23,055 24,334 23,889 6,585
Income tax expense (15,566) (9,644) (10,342) (9,210) (5,264)

Earnings before cumulative effect of a change
in accounting principle from:

Continuing operations 29,068 13,411 13,992 14,679 1,321
Discontinued operations — 1,398 — 273 —
Earnings before cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle 29,068 14,809 13,992 14,952 1,321
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle, net of tax of $790° — — (3,363) —_ —
Dividends on preferred shares¢ — — — (194) (881)
Net earnings available for common shares $ 29068 S$ 14809 S 10629 S§ 14758 § 440
Per Common Share Data:
Basic net earnings (loss):
Continuing operations $ 164 S 078 $ 082 $ 114§ 0.05
Discontinued operations — 0.08 — 0.02 —
Basic net earnings before cumulative effect
of a change in accounting principle 1.64 0.86 0.82 1.16 0.05
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle — — (0.20) — —
Basic net earnings $ 164 S 086 $ 062 $ 116 $ 0.05
Diluted net earnings (loss):
Continuing operations S 149 $ 076 S 081 $ 1.09 § 0.05
Discontinued operations — 0.08 — 0.02 —
Diluted net earnings before cumulative effect
of a change in accounting principle 1.49 0.84 0.81 1.11 0.05
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle — — (0.20) — —
Diluted net earnings $ 149 § 084 § 061 § 111§ 0.05
Cash dividends per common share $ 012 $ 012 § 012§ 012 § 0.12
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:
Basic 17,695 17,308 17,080 12,776 9,601

Diluted® 22,377 17,561 17,379 14,254 10,662




2004

2003

2002 2001 2000

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Other Data
Depreciation and amortization $ 16040 $ 17065 S 11,321 § 11396 $ 9441
Capital expenditures 14,206 8,865 7,093 14,298 3,861
Backlog 474,605 462,327 375,029 294,812 252,888
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities and restricted cash & 98,884 § 86,632 $ 159,860 § 58031 $ 16,621
Working capital 226,708 175,715 204,382 105177 37,552
Total assets 546,689 494,696 481,574 285,630 214,254
Total debt® 137,800 137,800 137,800 463 49,444
Shareholders’ equity 211,928 190,332 168,273 174,498 65,818

{a) Reflects $0.9 million in 2003 and $0.6 million in 2002 for the write-off of purchased in-process research and development (“IPR&D") and other
merger-related costs, respectively, associated with our acquisition of the assets of Condor Systems, Inc., as well as a $0.9 million curtailment loss
in 2003 and a $2.0 million curtailment loss in 2002 associated with our benefit plans; a $0.8 million post-retirement curtailment gain in 2001; $1.3
million and $11.5 million in the years 2001 and 2000, respectively, for the write-off of IPR&D (in 2000); and other EDO-AIL merger-related costs (in

2001 and 2000).

(b) Upon adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” we recorded a cumulative effect
of a change in accounting principle effective January 1, 2002. See Note 1(f) to the consolidated financial statements.

(c) ESOP Convertible Cumulative Preferred Shares, Series A. On March 8, 2001, all outstanding preferred shares were converted into common shares.

No preferred dividends were paid after March 8, 2001.

(d} In 2004, the 5.25% Convertible Subordinated Notes had a dilutive effect on the earnings per share calculation. Consequently, 4.4 million shares

are included in the diluted shares outstanding in 2004.

(e) Includes note payable, Employee Stock Ownership Trust loan obligation and current portions of long-term debt.

NYSE Annual Report Disclosure Requirements

Pursuant to Section 303A.12(a) of the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual, the Company discloses that it sub-
mitted to the NYSE in 2004 a Section 12(a) Annual CEO Certification and filed with the SEC the CEO and CFO certifications
required under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in 2004 as an exhibit to its 10-K.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW
EDO Corporation {the “Company”) provides military and

commercial products and professional services, with core com-
petencies in a wide range of critical defense areas, including;

* Defense Electronics

¢ Aircraft Armament

* Undersea Warfare

* Professional Services

* C4I— Command, Control, Communications, Computers,

and Intelligence
* Integrated Composite Structures

We are a leading supplier of sophisticated, highly engineered
products and systems for defense, acrospace and industrial appli-
cations. We believe our advanced electronic, electromechani-
cal systems, information systems and engineered materials are
mission-critical on a wide range of military programs. We have
three reporting segments: Defense, Communications and Space
Products, and Engineered Materials. Our Defense segment pro-
vides integrated front-line warfighting systems and components
including electronic-warfare systems, reconnaissance and sur-
veillance systems, aircraft weapons suspension and release sys-
tems, integrated combat systems, command, control, commu-
nications, computers, and intelligence (C4I) products and sys-
tems, undersea-warfare systems and professional and engineer-
ing services for military forces and friendly governments world-
wide. Our Communications and Space Products segment sup-
plies antenna products and ultra-miniature electronics and sys-
tems for the remote sensing and electronic warfare industries.
Our Engineered Materials segment supplies commercial and
military piezo-electric ceramic products and integrated com-
posite structures for the aircraft and oil industries. The Com-
pany has a disciplined acquisition program which is diversify-
ing the base of major platforms and customers.

The Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports
on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all amend-
ments to those reports, and the Proxy Statement for its Annual
Meeting of Shareholders are made available, free of charge, on
its Web site www.edocorp.com, as soon as reasonably practica-
ble after such reports have been filed with or furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

ACQUISITIONS

On June 16, 2003, the Company acquired for cash all of the
stock of Emblem Group Ltd. (“Emblem”), a privately-held
company based in Brighton, England. Emblem, now known as
EDO (UK) Ltd., is a supplier of acrospace and defense prod-
ucts and services, primarily through its MBM Technology Led.
unit in England, now known as EDO MBM Technology Ltd.,
and Artisan Technologies, Inc. subsidiary in the United States,
now known as EDO Artisan. Emblem has a core competency
in aircraft weapons-carriage and interfacing systems thar rein-

forces EDO’s position as a global leader in aircraft armament
release systems. Emblem is expected to broaden the Company’s
customer base in Europe. The purchase price was £16.1 million
($27.0 million), excluding transaction costs of approximately
$1.9 million. In the second quarter of 2004 we received $0.3
million from an escrow account resulting in a decrease in pur-
chase price and, therefore, goodwill. Emblem became part of
the Company’s Defense segment. The excess of the purchase
price over the net assets acquired recorded as goodwill and
other intangibles related to Emblem’s units located in England
is deductible for U.S. income tax purposes over 15 years. The
excess of the purchase price over the net assets acquired related
to Artisan Technologies, Inc. is not deductible for income tax
purposes.

On March 10, 2003, the Company acquired for cash all of the
stock of Darlington, Inc. (“Datlington”), a privately-held defense
communications company based in Alexandria,Virginia. Dar-
lington designs, manufactures and supports military commu-
nications equipment and information networking systems. The
acquisition has enhanced the Company’s existing positions on
long-range platforms and programs across the U.S. military
services and in particular the U.S. Marine Corps. The purchase
price was $25.6 million, excluding transaction costs of approxi-
mately $0.3 million. In addition, the Company acquired and
immediately paid off debt of $4.9 million. Darlington became
part of the Company’s Defense segment. The excess of the pur-
chase price over the net assets acquired recorded as goodwill
and other intangible assets is deductible for income tax pur-
poses over 15 years.

On February 5, 2003, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Com-
pany acquired for cash all of the stock of Advanced Engineer-
ing & Research Associates, Inc. ("AERA”), a privarely-held
company located in Alexandria, Virginia. AERA, which was
merged with another EDO subsidiary and renamed EDQ Pro-
fessional Services Inc., provides professional and information
technology services primarily to the Department of Defense
and other government agencies. The acquisition expanded the
range of such services that the Company offers. The purchase
price was $38.1 million, excluding transaction costs of $0.3 mil-
lion. In addition, the Company acquired and immediately paid
off debt of $3.8 million. AERA became part of the Company’s
Defense segment. The excess of the purchase price over the net
assets acquired recorded as goodwill and other intangible assets
is deductible for income tax purposes over 15 years.

On July 26, 2002, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain lia-
bilities of Condor Systems, Inc., a privately-held defense elec-
tronics company and its domestic subsidiary (together, “Con-
dor”) for $62.5 million in cash, in addition to transaction costs
of $5.0 million. The acquisition expanded the Company’s elec-
tronic warfare business in the areas of reconnaissance and sur-




veillance systems. The assets became part of the Company’s
Defense and Communications and Space Products segments.
The excess of the purchase price over the net assets acquired
recorded as goodwill, IPR&D and other intangible assets is
deductible for income tax purposes over 15 years.

Associated with the acquisition and included in operating earn-
ings for 2003 and 2002 is $0.9 million and $0.6 million, respec-
tively, of acquisition-related costs, of which $0.2 million in
2002 represents the write-off of purchased in-process research
and development (“IPR&D”). This IPR&D was determined to
not have reached technological feasibility and to not have alter-
native future use. The development project related to detecting
and locating weak modulated continuous wave signals.

These acquisitions were accounted for as purchases and, accord-
ingly, their operating results are included in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements since their respective acqui-
sition dates.

SALE OF PROPERTY

On June 24, 2003, the Board of Directors of the Company
approved the decision to sell our 726,000 square foor facility
in Deer Park, NY. This decision was based on a company-wide
facility plan that evaluated potential uses for the property. We
concluded that the Deer Park facility would not meet future
requirements, and thus an outright sale was completed, freeing
assets for more productive use, including acquisitions. A pre-
tax impairment loss of $9.2 million was recorded in the second
quarter of 2003, as the net book value of the assets exceeded
the fair value less the costs to sell. The fair value was based on
a $29.0 million sales price per the sales agreement entered into
in July 2003. This impairment charge represents the entire loss
we expect to incur.

Of the $29.0 million sales price, $22.0 million is in cash and
$7.0 million is in the form of a purchase money mortgage and
note, We closed on the sale in October 2003 and received the
cash less closing payments. The note receivable is due when we
vacate the facility. As part of the agreement, we will lease the
facility through October 10, 2005, with the option to termi-
nate before such date. The lease agreement does not have any
renewal or buyout options.

DISCUSSION OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

We make estimates and assumptions in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements in conformity with account-
ing principles generally accepted in the United States. Actual
results could differ significantly from those estimates under dif-
ferent assumptions and conditions. We believe that the follow-
ing discussion addresses our critical accounting policies, which
are those that are most important to the portrayal of our consol-
idated financial condition and results of operations and which

require our most difficult and subjective judgments, often as a
result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters
that are inherently uncertain. The following is a brief discus-
sion of the critical accounting policies employed by us.

Revenue Recognition

Sales under long-term, fixed-price contracts, including pro-rata
profits, are generally recorded based on the relationship of costs
incurred to date to total projected final costs or, alternatively, as
deliveries and other milestones are achieved or services are pro-
vided. These projections are revised throughout the lives of the
contracts, Adjustments to profits resulting from such revisions
are made cumulative to the date of change and may affect cur-
rent period earnings. Sales on other than long-term contract
orders (principally commercial products) are recorded as ship-
ments are made. Our gross profit is affected by a variety of fac-
tors, including the mix of products, systems and services sold,
production efficiencies, price competition and general eco-
nomic conditions. Estimated losses on long-term contracts are
recorded when identified.

Inventories

Inventories under long-term contracts and programs reflect
all accumulated production costs, including factory overhead,
initial tooling and other related costs (including general and
administrative expenses relating to certain of our defense con-
tracts), less the portion of such costs charged to cost of sales. All
other inventories are stated at the lower of cost (principally first-
in, first-out method) or market. Inventory costs in excess of
amounts recoverable under contracts and which relate to a spe-
cific technology or application and which may not have alterna-
tive uses are charged to cost of sales when such circumstances
are identified.

From time to time, we manufacture certain products prior to
receiving firm contracts in anticipation of future demand. Such
costs are inventoried and are incurred to help maintain stable
and efficient production schedules.

Several factors may influence the sale and use of our inven-
toties, including our decision to exit a product line, techno-
logical change, new product development and/or revised esti-
mates of future product demand. If inventory is determined
to be overvalued due to one or more of the above facrors, we
would be required to recognize such loss in value at the time of
such determination.

Under the contractual arrangements by which progress pay-
ments are received, the United States Government has a title to
or a security interest in the inventories identified with related
contracts.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Property, Plant and Equipment and Other Long-Lived Assets

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost and is depre-
ciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of such assets. Leaschold improvements are amortized over the
shorter of their estimated useful lives or their respective lease
periods.

In those cases where we determine that the useful life of prop-
erty, plant and equipment should be shortened, we depreciate
the net book value in excess of salvage value over its revised
remaining useful life thereby increasing depreciation expense.
Factors such as technological advances, changes to our business
model, changes in our capital strategy, changes in the planned
use of equipment, fixtures, software or changes in the planned
use of facilities could result in shortened useful lives. Long-lived
assets, other than goodwill, are reviewed by us for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of any such asset may not be recoverable. The
estimate of cash flow, which is used to determine recoverability,
is based upon, among other things, certain assumptions about
future operating performance.

Our estimates of undiscounted cash flow may differ from
actual cash flow due to such factors including technological
advances, changes to our business model, or changes in our
capital strategy or planned use of long-lived assets. If the sum of
the undiscounted cash flows, excluding interest, is less than the
carrying value, we would recognize an impairment loss, mea-
sured as the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the
fair value of the asset,

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Stan-
dards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”
goodwill must be tested at least annually for impairment at the
reporting unit level. If an indication of impairment exists, we
are required to determine if such goodwill’s implied fair value
is less than the unit carrying value in order to determine the
amount, if any, of the impairment loss required to be recorded.
Impairment indicators include, among other conditions, cash
flow deficits, an historic or anticipated decline in revenue or
operating profits, adverse legal or regulatory developments,
accumulation of costs significantly in excess of amounts origi-
nally expected to acquire the asset and/or a material decrease in
the fair value of some or all of the assets.

To determine the fair value of our reporting units, we gener-
ally use a present value technique (discounted cash flow) cor-
roborated by market multiples when available and as appro-
priate, for all of the reporting unirts. The discounted cash flow
method measures intrinsic value by reference to an enterprise’s
or an asset’s expected annual free cash flows. We applied what
we believe to be the most appropriate valuation methodology
for each of the reporting units. If we had established different

reporting units or utilized different valuation methodologies,
the impairment test results could differ.

Pension and Post-Retirement Benefits Obligations

We sponsor defined benefit pension and other retirement plans
in various forms covering all eligible employees. Several sta-
tistical and other factors which attempt to anticipate future
events are used in calculating the expense and liability related
to the plans. These factors include assumptions about the dis-
count rate and expected return on plan assets within certain
guidelines and in conjunction with our actuarial consultants.
In addition, our actuarial consultants also use subjective factors
such as withdrawal and mortality rates to estimate the expense
and liability related to these plans. The actuarial assumptions
used by us may differ significantly, either favorably or unfavor-
ably, from actual results due to changing market, economic or
regulatory conditions, higher or lower withdrawal rates or lon-
ger or shorter life spans of participants.

In 2004, 2003 and 2002 we used the building block approach
to the estimation of the long-term rate of return on assets.
Under this approach, we reviewed the publicly available com-
mon source data for the range of returns on basic types of
equity and fixed income instruments and the differential to
those rates provided by active investment management. In con-
sultation with our actuarial and active asset management con-
sultants and taking into account the funds’ actual performance
and expected asset allocation going forward, we selected an
overall return rate within the resulting range.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Net sales for 2004 increased 16.4% to $536.2 million from
$460.7 million for 2003 and included a full year of sales from
the acquisitions of Emblem UK, Ltd., Darlington and AERA
compated to approximately 6.5 months, 9.5 months and 11
months, respectively in 2003. For 2004, net earnings were
$29.1 million or $1.49 per diluted share on 22.4 million shares
compared to net earnings of $14.8 million or $0.84 per diluted
share on 17.6 million shares in 2003. The 2003 results included
a pre-tax impairment loss on the sale of the Deer Park facility
of $9.2 million. Also included in 2003 is $1.4 million net of tax
earnings from discontinued operations. In 2004 the convertible
notes had a dilutive effect, which added approximately 4.4 mil-
lion shares to the calculation.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (*FASB”) issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-
Based Payment,” which is a revision of SFAS No. 123, “Account-
ing for Stock-Based Compensation.” SFAS 123(R) super-
sedes Accounting Principles Board ("APB”) Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and amends SFAS




No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows.” Generally, the approach
in SFAS 123(R) is similar to the approach described in SFAS
123. However, SFAS 123(R) requires all share-based payments
to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be
recognized in the income statement based on their fair values.
Pro forma disclosure is no longer an alternative. SFAS 123(R)
must be adopted in the first interim or annual period begin-
ning after June 15, 2005. We expect to adopt Statement 123(R)
on July 1, 2005.

As permitted by SFAS 123, we currently account for share-
based payments to employees using APB No. 25’ intrinsic
value method and generally recognize no compensation cost
for employee stock options. Accordingly, the adoption of SFAS
123(R)’s fair value method will have a significant impact on
our result of operations, although it will have no impact on our
overall financial position. The impact of the adoption of SFAS
123(R) cannot be predicted at this time because it will depend
on Jevels of share-based payments granted in the furure. How-
ever, had we adopted Statement 123(R) in prior periods, the
impact of that standard would have approximated the impact
of SFAS 123 as described in the disclosure of pro forma net
income and earnings per share in Note 1(k) to our consolidated
financial statements. SFAS 123(R) also requires the benefits of
tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be
reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating
cash flow as required under current literature.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Comparison of 2004 to 2003

Net sales by segment were as follows:

Twelve Months Ended Increase
December 31, From
Segment 2004 2003 Prior Period
{Dollars in millions)

Defense $ 4063 S§ 3600 12.9%
Communications and

Space Products 81.7 55.5 47.2%

Engineered Materials 48.2 45.2 6.7%

Total $ 5362 $ 4607 16.4%

In the Defense segment, approximately $12.7 million of the
increase in sales was ateributable to a full year of sales of Emblem
Group Ltd. (“Emblem”) which was acquired on June 16, 2003.
There were increases in sales of reconnaissance and surveillance
systems, professional services and command, control, commu-
nications, computers and intelligence (“C4I”) systemns. These
increases were partially offset by decreases in sales of electronic
warfare equipment due to the completion of the UEU produc-
tion program in 2003. In addition there was a decrease in sales
of $2.7 million in 2004 to reflect an increase to the estimate-to-
complete of an undersea warfare systems program accounted

for under the percentage of completion method. The increase
in the estimate resulted in a decrease to the percent complete
and therefore the decrease to sales. The revision to the estimarte
resulted from performance issues discovered during testing
phases. There was a comparable reduction to operating earn-
ings as discussed below.

In the Communications and Space Products segment, the
increase in sales was arttributable to deliveries on our contract
with the U.S. Army for the new force protection systems. This
“rapid response” program was a significant contributor to sales
and margin in this segment for the year. In addition, there was
an increase in sales of antenna products. These increases in sales
were partially offset by a decrease due to completion of pro-
duction deliveries of interference cancellation systems and the
basic shortstop electronic protection systems (“SEPS”) in the
first quarter of 2003.

In addition, in 2004 there were no sales of our space prod-
ucts related to commercial communication satellites due to a
significant downturn in market demand. Entering into 2004
there was a forecast from our primary customer that indicated
a demand for our product. As the year progressed, and as late
as October, there was market potential, including our pursuit
of secondary customers. However, as we continued to evalu-
ate the market for our inventory of Ku-band products, we con-
cluded that the market was shifting to Ka-band systems and
that there was no potential sale of our product for the fore-
seeable future. Consequently, we wrote-off our remaining $2.6
million of inventory in the fourth quarter.

In the Engineered Materials segment, there were increases in
sales of electro-ceramic products utilized in sonar transducers
and in sales of integrated composite structures including pro-
duction and installation of our composite pipe for water and
fire systems on offshore oil platforms.
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FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Operating earnings were as follows:

Twelve Months Ended
December 31, Increase
2004 2003 From Prior
Segment (Dollars in millions) Period
Defense S 431 S 35.0 22.8%
Communications and
Space Products 43 3.6 19.8%
Engineered Materials 5.4 2.4 128.2%
Impairment Loss on
Deer Park Facility — (9.2}
Benefit Plan
curtailment loss — (0.9)
Total $ 528 § 30.9 70.7%

Items of note affecting operating earnings are summarized here
to clarify the comparison of results.

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,
2004 2003
(Dollars in thousands)
Pension $ 2183 $ 3931
ESOP Compensation expense 4,330 3,281
Intangible asset amortization 5,564 4,885

The lower pension expense in 2004 compared to 2003 is attrib-
utable to the cash contribution we made to our defined benefit
plan in 2003. The higher ESOP compensation expense in 2004
is actributable to our higher average stock price compared to
2003. Pension and ESOP compensation expense are allocated
between cost of sales and selling, general and administrative
expense. The intangible asset amortization expense is associ-
ated with the acquisitions made in 2002 and 2003 and affects
primarily the Defense segment. The $9.2 million impairment
charge in 2003 related to our Deer Park facility which was sold.
Operating earnings for 2004 were also affected by several con-
tract-related items which are described in further detail below
in the discussion of segment operating earnings.

The Defense segment’s operating earnings for the year ended
December 31, 2004 were $43.1 million or 10.6% of this seg-
ment’s net sales compared to $35.0 million or 9.7% of this seg-
ment’s net sales for the year ended December 31, 2003. This
increase in operating earnings was attributable to continuing
higher-margin sales of reconnaissance and surveillance systems
and radar signal simulators. In addition, there was a positive
impact to operating earnings of approximately $3.4 million
resulting from the release of a reserve which had been previ-
ously established for a potential issue on MK105-related con-
tracts. The release of the reserve was triggered by final closeout
of MKI105 programs and proven performance resulting from
system utilization over the course of the year. These increases
were partially offset by the effect of increasing the estimate-to-

complete on an aircraft armament program resulting in a $1.6
million negative impact to operating earnings and the afore-
mentioned $3.0 million impact on an undersea warfare sys-
tems program. We believe that our current estimates accurarely
reflect the total potential impacts.

The Communications and Space Products segment’s operating
earnings for the year ended December 31, 2004 were $4.3 mil-
lion or 5.3% of this segment’s net sales compared to operating
earnings of $3.6 million or 6.5% of this segment’s net sales for
the year ended December 31, 2003. In the first quarter of 2004,
there were operating losses related to adjustments to estimates-
to-complete on development and start-up production phases on
certain interference cancellation programs resulting from issues
discovered in the first quarter during testing. In addition, there
were losses in the antenna product line, primarily in the second
quarter, due to production inefficiencies that resulted in inven-
tory adjustments as well as increases in estimates-to-complete.
In the fourth quarter, there was the aforementioned write-off
of space-products related inventory of $2.6 million. This seg-
ment’s operating results were positively affected by sales asso-
ciated with the force protection systems program which was a
significant contributor to operating earnings in this segment
for the year.

The Engineered Materials segment’s operating earnings for the
year ended December 31, 2004 were $5.4 million or 11.3% of
this segment’s net sales compared to operating carnings of $2.4
million or 5.3% of this segment’s net sales for the year ended
December 31, 2003. Strong margins on spares primarily con-
tributed to the increase in operating earnings. In the second
quarter of 2004, there was a negartive impact of $0.8 million
which related to the undersea warfare systems program issue in
the Defense segment. A component for sonar equipment pro-
duced in the engineered materials segment experienced failures
during testing. The estimate of the cost to remedy the problem
resulted in the $0.8 million charge to earnings. During the year
ended December 31, 2004, this segment’s operating earnings
were positively affected by a net $0.4 million, resulting from
$1.1 million received in a settlement of a legal matter, partially
offset by related legal fees. During the year ended December
31, 2003, we incurred a charge of $0.7 million to write-down
inventory and receivables related to the microwave product line
that serviced the telecommunications industry. As sales were
not materializing to expected levels, we conducted an analysis
which resulted in the write-down of $0.6 million of inventory
and $0.1 million of unbilled receivables.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2004 of $78.8 million decreased as a percent of
net sales to 14.7 % from 15.6% for the year ended December 31,
2003. This decrease was attributable primarily to facilities con-
solidations and other synergies achieved on the AERA and Dar-
lington acquisitions. Included in selling, general and adminis-




trative expenses in 2004 and 2003 were $2.2 million and $1.1
million, respectively, of external costs for compliance with Sar-
banes-Oxley. We have not quantified the internal costs.

Research and development expense for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2004 increased to $11.6 million or 2.29% of net sales from
$8.6 million or 1.9% of net sales for the year ended December
31, 2003. The increase is actributable to expenditures in recon-
naissance and surveillance systems and force protection sys-
tems.

Interest expense, net of interest income, for the year ended
December 31, 2004 decreased to $7.8 million compared to
$8.2 for the year ended December 31, 2003, primarily due to
higher interest income on a higher average cash balance. Inter-
est expense is associated primarily with our $137.8 million
principal amount of 5.25% Convertible Subordinated Notes
(“Notes”) issued in April 2002, amortization of deferred debt
issuance costs associated with the offering of the Notes, and
amortization of deferred financing costs associated with our
credit facility.

Income tax expense reflects an effective rate of 34.9% for the
year ended December 31, 2004 and 41.8% for the year ended
December 21, 2003. In 2004, the Company recorded an income
tax benefit of $2.8 million due to the reversal of income tax
contingencies which were determined to be no longer needed
during the fourth quarter of 2004.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, net earnings were
$29.1 million or $1.49 per diluted common share on 22.4 mil-
lion diluted shares compared to net earnings from continuing
operations of $13.4 million or $0.76 per diluted common share
on 17.6 million diluted shares for the year ended December 31,
2003. The convertible notes had a dilutive effect for the year
ended December 31, 2004, but not for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2003. In the year ended December 31, 2003, we received
notification of final settlement of bankruptcy matters pertain-
ing to our former energy business. Upon the discontinuance of
such business in 1996, a liability was established pending final
settlement of the bankruptcy. This liability was reversed as of
December 31, 2003. Consequently, $1.4 million, which was net
of income tax expense of $1.0 million, was reported as earnings
from discontinued operations in the accompanying statement
of earnings.

Comparison of 2003 to 2002

Net sales by segment were as follows:

Twelve Months Ended Increase
December 31, From
Segment 2003 2002 Prior Period
(Dollars in millions)

Defense $ 3600 S 2434 47.9%
Communications and

Space Products 555 473 17.3%

Engineered Materials 452 38.2 18.4%

Total $ 4607 $ 3289 40.1%

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2003 increased
40.1% to $460.7 million from $328.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002, This increase comprised sales growth of
$116.4 million for the Defense segment, $8.2 million for the
Communications and Space Products segment and $7.0 mil-
lion for the Engineered Materials segment.

In the Defense segment, $91.3 million of the net increase was
attributable to sales of Emblem Group Lid. ("Emblem”), Dar-
lington, Inc. (“Datlington”), and Advanced Engineering &
Research Associates, Inc. (JAERA”) since their acquisition
dates of June 16, March 10, and February 5, 2003, respectively.
In addition, $48.4 million of the increase is attributable to a
full year’s worth of sales of reconnaissance and surveillance sys-
tems associated with the acquisition of substantially all of the
assets of Condor Systems, Inc. ("Condor”), compared to only
five months in 2002. In addition, there were increases in sales
of aircraft weapons suspension and release systems due in part
to the F/A-22 AMRAAM Vertical Eject Launcher program,
the BRU-57 Multiple Carriage Smart Bomb Rack program,
and development efforts on the Joint Strike Fighter weapons
suspension and release units programs. Sales of undersea sonar
systems and aircraft radar signal simulator units also increased
in 2003 compared to 2002. These increases were offset by
decreases in sales of electronic warfare equipment as well as
integrated combat systems. The decrease in sales of electronic
warfare equipment was due to the completion of the Univer-
sal Exciter Upgrade (“UEU”) production program in the third
quarter of 2003. The decrease in integrated combat systems was
due primarily to delays in receipt of orders from foreign cus-
tomers.

In the Communications and Space Products segment, most of
the net increase in sales was attributable to a full year’s worth of
sales of electronic protection systems from the aforementioned
acquisition of Condor compared to only five months in 2002.
Additionally, sales increases in our antenna product line were
more than offset by decreases in sales of our space sensor com-
munication products.

In the Engineered Materials segment, there were increases in
sales of electro-ceramic products, attributable to transduc-
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ers and sonar arrays. There were also increases in sales of inte-
grated composite structures including work associated with the
Sikorsky Comanche program as well as production and instal-
lation of our composite pipe on offshore oil rig projects result-
ing from increased activity in the Gulf of Mexico.

Operating earnings by segment were as follows:

Twelve Months Ended

Increase
December 31, (Decrease)
Segment 2003 2002 From Prior
(Dollars in millions) Period
Defense $ 350 § 28.7 22.3%
Communications
and Space Products 36 (0.4) 912.5%
Engineered Materials 24 3. (24.3)%
Impairment Loss on
Deer Park Facility (9.2) —
Benefit Plan
curtailment loss (0.9) (2.0)
Total $ 309 § 294 5.3%

Operating earnings for the year ended December 31, 2003 were
$30.9 million or 6.7% of net sales. This compares to operating
earnings for the year ended December 31, 2002 of $29.4 million
or 8.9% of net sales. The 2003 results were negatively impacted
by a $9.2 million loss on the sale of our facility in Deer Park,
a $0.9 million curtailment loss associated with our non-quali-
fied pension plan, and $0.9 million of costs associated with the
acquisition of the former Condor business. In 2002, operat-
ing earnings included a $2.0 million curtailment loss associ-
ated with our defined benefit pension plan and $0.6 million of
costs associated with the acquisition of substantially all of the
assets of the former Condor business. In addition, 2003 oper-
ating earnings include $4.9 million of intangible asset amorti-
zation expense associated with the Condor, AERA, Darling-
ton and Emblem acquisitions. This compares to total amorti-
zation expense of approximately $1.0 million for 2002. Also
included in operating earnings for the year ended December 31,
2003 is pension expense of $3.9 million and ESOP compensa-
tion expense of $3.3 million. Included in operating earnings for
the year ended December 31, 2002 is pension expense of $4.0
million and ESOP compensation expense of $4.0 million. The
lower ESOP compensation expense for 2003 is actributable to
our lower average stock price in 2003 compared to 2002. Pen-
sion and ESOP compensation expense are allocated berween
cost of sales and selling, general and administrative expense.

The Defense segment’s operating earnings for the year ended
December 31, 2003 were $35.0 million or 9.7% of this seg-
ment’s net sales compared to $28.7 million or 11.8% of this
segment’s net sales for the year ended December 31, 2002. In
2003, operating earnings were positively affected by higher-
margin sales of reconnaissance and surveillance systems from
the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Condor, effi-

ciencies achieved on higher production volume associated with
our radar signal simulator, and higher margin sales of aircraft
weapons suspension and release systems. The completion of
production activities on certain long-term programs, including
the UEU, also resulted in earnings at relatively high margins.
In addition, there were high margins recognized on various B-
1B spares and repairs contracts. These increases were offset in
part by a shift in the margins of mine countermeasure systems
from higher-margin production on the MK 105 program last
year to lower-margin, non-recurring development effores this
year associated with OASIS, as well as by the aforementioned
lower sales of combat systems. Operating earnings for 2003
were also negatively impacted by amortization expense pertain-
ing to intangible assets associated with acquisitions.

The Communications and Space Products segment’s operating
earnings for the year ended December 31, 2003 were $3.6 mil-
lion or 6.5% of this segment’s net sales compared to an operat-
ing loss of $0.4 million or 0.9% of this segment’s net sales in
2002. In 2003, operating earnings in this segment were nega-
tively impacted by a $1.1 million pre-tax charge to write down
satellite-related inventory to net realizable value. This reduc-
tion was caused by competitive price pressure from our major
customer as well as some obsolescence. This charge was more
than offset by the receipt of an award fee on a classified pro-
gram as well as the contribution from the higher sales of com-
munications systems from the acquisition of substantially all of
the assets of Condor. Included in the 2002 operating loss was a
$1.5 million charge to provide for manufacturing inefhciencies
resulting from our primary customer’s decrease in its forecasted
purchases of our satellite down converters.

The Engineered Materials segment’s operating earnings for the
year ended December 31, 2003 were $2.4 million or 5.3% of
this segment’s net sales compared to operating earnings of $3.1
million or 8.3% of this segment’s net sales in 2002. During the
year ended December 31, 2003, we incurred a pre-tax charge of
$0.7 million to write down inventory and receivables related to
the microwave product line that services the telecommunica-
tions industry. As sales from such product line were not materi-
alizing to expected levels set forth in the business plan for this
line, we conducted an analysis of market potential. Such analy-
sis was completed in the second quarter of 2003 and indicated
that approximately $0.1 million of unbilled receivables were
unrecoverable and thart the net realizable value of the related
inventory was $0.6 million lower than its book value. In addi-
tion, the decrease in this segment’s operating earnings as a per-
centage of net sales was due to a decrease in contribution from
composite structural products resulting from a shift in sales
to lower-margin, non-recurring engineering efforts associated
with the Sikorsky Comanche program.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2003 increased to $71.9 million or 15.6% of net




sales from $47.6 million or 14.5% of net sales for the year ended
December 31, 2002. This increase was primarily attributable to
three acquisitions made in 2003.

Research and development expense for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2003 increased slightly to $8.6 million or 1.9% of net
sales from $8.5 million or 2.6% of net sales for the year ended
December 31, 2002. As a percent of sales, the decrease is attrib-
utable to the absence of such expenditures in the services busi-
nesses.

Interest expense, net of interest income, for the year ended
December 31, 2003 increased 64.5% to $8.2 million from $5.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2002, due primarily
to interest expense associated with our $137.8 million princi-
pal amount Notes issued in April 2002, increased amortiza-
tion expense of deferred debrt issuance costs associated with the
offering of the Notes and increased amortization of deferred
financing costs associated with our credit facility amended in
November 2002.

Income tax expense reflects an effective rate of 41.8% for the
year ended December 31, 2003 compared to 42.5% for the year
ended December 31, 2002. The decrease in the effective tax rate
was principally attributable to the decreased amount of non-
deductible, non-cash ESOP compensation expense in 2003.

For the year ended December 31, 2003, earnings available for
common shares were $14.8 million or $0.84 per diluted com-
mon share on 17.6 million diluted shares compared to earnings
before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle of
$14.0 million or $0.81 per diluted common share on 17.4 mil-
lion diluted shares for the year ended December 31, 2002. The
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle for the
year ended December 31, 2002 was recorded as of January 1,
2002 and is shown net of a tax benefit of $0.8 million on the
consolidated statement of earnings. This charge pertained to
the impairment of goodwill and a trademark resulting from
impairment tests performed in 2002, as required by SFAS No.
142. The impairment occurred in the Engineered Materials seg-
ment and is comprised of the following: $2.2 million and $1.9
million of goodwill and a trademark, respectively, related to
our acquisition of Specialty Plastics and $0.1 million of good-
will related to our acquisition of Zenix.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

BALANCE SHEET

Our cash and cash equivalents increased 14.1% to $98.9 mil-
lion at December 31, 2004 from $86.6 million at December
31, 2003. Cash generated from operations was $25.7 million.
Investing activities included $14.0 million used for the pur-
chase of capital equipment, partially offser by $1.2 millien
received on notes receivable and $0.3 million received upon

settlement of an escrow related to the purchase of Emblem.
Financing activities included $2.4 million used for payment of
common share cash dividends, partially offset by $1.5 million
of proceeds from the exercise of stock options.

Accounts receivable increased 14.5% to $153.8 million at
December 31, 2004 from $134.3 million at December 31, 2003.
The increase is attributable to the higher sales volume. The
majority of the increase relates to timing of billed receivables.

Inventories increased 52.2% to $52.9 million at December 31,
2004 from $34.7 million at December 31, 2003 due primar-
ily to the efforts expended on work-in-progress on major pro-
grams, such as the force protection systems program for which
deliveries will continue into 2005.

The notes receivable of $7.2 million at December 31, 2004 (all
in current assets) and $8.1 million at December 31, 2003 (of
which $1.6 million was in current assets) represent the notes
receivable from the sale of our facility in Deer Park in 2003 and
the sale of our former College Point facility in January 1996.
The Deer Park facility note is due no later than October 9,
2005. The College Point facility note is due in annual amounts
through September 2005 with a final payment due on Decem-
ber 31, 2005 and bears interest at 7% per annum. The latter
note receivable is secured by a mortgage on the facilicy.

Financing Activities

Credit Facility

We have a $200 million credit facility with a consortium of
banks, led by Citibank, N.A. as the administrative agent, Bank
of America as the syndication agent and Wachovia Bank, N.A.
as the documentation agent. The facility expires in November
2005. The credit facility provides us with sub-limits of borrow-
ing up to $125.0 million for acquisition-related financing and
up to $125.0 million in standby letters of credit financing. The
potential cash borrowing under the facility is reduced by the
amount of outstanding letters of credit. Any borrowings under
the facility would be priced initially at LIBOR plus a predeter-
mined amount, ranging from 1.25% to 1.75%), depending on
our consolidated leverage ratio at the time of the borrowing.
At December 31, 2004, LIBOR was approximately 2.55% and
the applicable adjustment to LIBOR was 1.25%. The facility
requires us to pay each lender in the consortium a commitment
fee on the average daily unused portion of their respective com-
mitment at a rate equal to 0.25%.

There were no direct borrowings outstanding under the credit
facility at December 31, 2004 or 2003. Letters of credit out-
standing at December 31, 2004 pertaining to the credit facil-
ity were $39.8 million, resulting in $85.2 million available at
December 31, 2004 for standby letters of credit, if needed.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

In connection with the credit facility, we are required to main-
tain both financial and non-financial covenants and ratios,
including but not limited to leverage ratio, fixed charge cover-
age ratio, earnings before interest and taxes to interest expense
ratio, total unsubordinated debt to tangible net worth, net
income and dividends. Also, the Company cannot declare or pay
any dividend on its outstanding common stock in an amount
that exceeds fifty percent of its consolidated net income for the
immediately preceding quarter. As of December 31, 2004, we
were in compliance with our covenants. The credit facility is
secured by our accounts receivable, inventory and machinery
and equipment.

5.25% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2007 (“Notes”)

In April 2002, we completed the offering of the Notes and
received proceeds of $133.7 million, net of $4.1 million of com-
missions paid. Interest payments on the Notes are due April 15
and October 15 of each year, commencing on October 15, 2002.
Accrued interest payable, included in accrued liabilities on our
consolidated balance sheet, was $1.5 million at December 31,

2004 and 2003.

The Notes are convertible, unless previously redeemed or repur-
chased by us, at the option of the holder at any time prior to
maturity, into our common shares at an initial conversion price
of $31.26 per share, subject to adjustment in certain events. As
of December 31, 2004, there had been no conversions.

Shelf Registration

On December 23, 2003, we filed a shelf registration statement
to potentially offer for sale common shares, preferred shares,
debrt securities and warrants. We may sell any combination of

the foregoing securities in one or more offerings up to an aggre-
gate initial offering price of $500,000,000.

We believe that, for the foreseeable future, we have adequate
liquidity and sufficient capital to fund our currently anticipated
requirements for working capital, capital expenditures, includ-
ing acquisitions, research and development expenditures, inter-
est payments and funding of our pension and post-retirement
benefit obligations. We continue to focus on positioning our-
selves to be a significant player in the consolidation of first-
tier defense suppliers and, to that end, have actively sought
candidates for strategic acquisitions. Future acquisitions may
be funded from any of the following sources: cash on hand;
borrowings under our credit facility; issuance of our common
stock or other equity securities; and/or convertible or other

debrt offerings.

Commitments and Contingencies

In order to aggregate all commitments and contractual obliga-
tions as of December 31, 2004, we have included the following
table. We are obligated under building and equipment leases
expiring between 2005 and 2017. The aggregate future mini-
mum lease commitments under those obligations with noncan-
cellable terms in excess of one year are shown below. Our com-
mitments under letters of credit and advance payment and per-
formance bonds relate primarily to advances received on for-
eign contracts should we fail to perform in accordance with the
contract terms. We do not expect to have to make payments
under these letters of credits or bonds since these obligations
are removed as we perform under the related contracts. The

" amounts for letters of credit and performance bonds represent

the amount of commitment expiration per period.

Payments Due (in millions)

2010 and
Contractual Obligations Total 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Beyond
5.25% Convertible Subordinated
Notes due 2007 $ 1378 § — S — $ 1378 § — 5 — 3 —
Operating leases 109.8 14.4 12,5 1.5 11.0 10.7 49.7
Letters of credit 39.8 375 0.1 22 — — —
Projected pension contributions 29.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 50 —
Advance payment and
performance bonds 1.9 — 0.2 — — 1.7 —
Total $ 3183 § 579 § 188 § 1575 § 170 § 174 § 49.7

Actual pension contributions may differ from amounts pre-
sented above and are contingent on cash flow and liquidity.

Additionally, we are subject to certain legal actions that arise
out of the normal course of business. It is our belief that the

ultimate outcome of these actions will not have a marerial
adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of
operations or liquidity.




Concentration of Sales

We conduct a significant amount of our business with the
United States Government. Although there are currently no
indications of a significant change in the status of government
funding of certain programs, should this occur, our results of
operations, financial position and liquidity could be materially
affected. Such a change could have a significant impact on our
profitability and our stock price. This could also affect our abil-
ity to acquire funds from our credit facility due to covenant
restrictions or from other sources.

Backlog

The funded backlog of unfilled orders at December 31, 2004
increased to $474.6 millien from $462.3 million at Decem-
ber 31, 2003. Our backlog consists primarily of current orders
under long-lived, mission-critical programs on key defense
platforms.

COMMON SHARE PRICES

EDO common shares are traded on the New York Stock
Exchange. As of February 21, 2005, there were 1,803 sharehold-

ers of record (brokers and nominees counted as one each).

The price range in 2004 and 2003 was as follows:

2004 2003
High Low High Low
1st Quarter 27.2000 23.1000 21.6000 14.7500
2nd Quarter  25.8900 20.7100 20.3100 14.9700
3rd Quarter 28.0100 22.3100 23.5900 17.0900
4th Quarter 324200 26.2400 25.9500 19.7000

DIVIDENDS

During 2004 and 2003, the Board of Directors approved the
payment of quarterly cash dividends of $0.03 per common
share. The Company’s credit facility places certain limits on
the payment of cash dividends.

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE
ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS

None.

“SAFE HARBOR" STATEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE
SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995

The statements in this Annual Report and in oral statements
that may be made by representatives of the Company relat-
ing to plans, strategies, economic performance and trends and
other statements that are not descriptions of historical facts
may be forward-looking statements within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27(a)

of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21(e) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. Forward looking statements are inher-
ently subject to risks and uncertainties, and actual results could
differ materially from those currently anticipated due to a num-
ber of factors, which include, but are not limited to the follow-
ing for each of the types of information noted below.

U.S. and international military program sales, follow-on pro-
curement, contract continuance, and future program awards,
upgrades and spares support are subject to: U.S. and interna-
tional military budget constraints and determinations; U.S.
congressional and international legislative body discretion;
U.S. and international government administration policies and
priorities; changing world military threats, strategies and mis-
sions; competition from foreign manufacturers of platforms
and equipment; NATO country determinations regarding par-
ticipation in common programs; changes in U.S. and interna-
tional government procurement timing, strategies and prac-
tices, the general state of world military readiness and deploy-
ment; and the ability to obtain export licenses.

Commercial satellite programs and equipment sales, follow-
on procurement, contract continuance and future program
awards, upgrades and spares support are subject to: establish-
ment and continuance of various consortiums for satellite con-
stellation programs; delay in launch dates due o equipment,
weather or other factors beyond our control; and development
of sufficient customer base to support a particular satellite con-
stellation program.

Commercial product sales are subject to: success of product
development programs currently underway or planned; com-
petitiveness of current and future production costs and prices
and market and consumer base development of new product
programs.

Achievement of margins on sales, earnings and cash flow can
be affected by: unanticipated technical problems; government
termination of contracts for convenience; decline in expected
levels of sales; underestimation of anticipated costs on specific
programs; the ability to effect acquisitions; and risks inherent
in integrating recent acquisitions into our overall structure.

Expectations of future income tax rates can be affected by a
variety of factors, including statutory changes in Federal and
state tax rates, nondeductibility of goodwill amortization and
IPR&D acquired in a stock purchase business combination
and the nondeductibility of our noncash ESOP compensation
expense.

The Company has no obligation to update any forward-look-
ing statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

EDO CorpoRaTION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Continuing Operations:

Net Sales $536,173 $ 460,667 $328,876
Costs and Expenses
Cost of sales 392,961 338,259 240,850
Selling, general and administrative 78,791 71,855 47,584
Research and development 11,620 8,594 8,492
Write-off of purchased in-process research and
development and merger-related costs — 929 567
Benefit plan curtailment loss — 942 1,998
Impairment loss on Deer Park facility — 9,160 —
483,372 429,739 299,491
Operating Earnings 52,801 30,928 29,385
Non-Operating Income (Expense)
Interest income 1,271 941 1,729
Interest expense (9,119) (9,093) (6,685)
Other, net (319) 279 (95)
(8,167) (7,873) (5,051)
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes and
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle 44,634 23,055 24,334
Income tax expense (15,566) (9,644) (10,342)
Earnings from Continuing Operations before Cumulative
Effect of a Change in Accounting Principle 29,068 13,411 13,992
Discontinued Operations:
Gain from discontinued operations, net of tax of $971 — 1,398 —
Earnings from Discontinued Operations — 1,398 —
Earnings before Cumulative Effect of a Change in Accounting Principle 29,068 14,809 13,992
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax of $790 — — (3,363)
Net Earnings $ 29,068 $ 14,809 $ 10,629
Earnings per Common Share:
Basic:
Continuing operations 5 1.64 $ 0.78 $ 0.62
Discontinued operations — 0.08 —
Net Earnings per Common Share-Basic $ 1.64 $ 0.86 $ 0.62
Diluted:
Continuing operations $ 1.49 $ 0.76 $ 0.61
Discontinued operations — 0.08 —
Net Earnings per Common Share-Diluted $ 1.49 $ 0.84 $ 0.61

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.




CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

EDO CorPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

December 31,
2004 2003
(In thousands, except share
and per share amounts)
Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 98,884 $ 86,632
Accounts receivable, net 153,810 134,303
Inventories 52,867 34,733
Deferred income tax asset, net 5,046 4,836
Notes receivable, current 7,202 1,600
Prepayments and other 3,493 4,354

Total current assets 321,302 266,458
Property, plant and equipment, net 34,830 31,355
Notes receivable — 6,538
Goodwill 91,651 92,527
Other intangible assets 50,356 55,898
Deferred income tax asset, net 30,241 20,532
Other assets 18,309 21,388

$ 546,689 $ 494,696
Liabilities And Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 32,406 $ 22,801
Accrued liabilities 48,492 59,747
Contract advances and deposits 13,696 8,195

Total current liabilities 94,594 90,743
Income taxes payable 5,768 2,195
Long-term debt 137,800 137,800
Post-retirement benefits obligations 94,936 71,898
Environmental obligation 1,663 1,728
Shareholders’ equity:

Preferred shares, par value $1 per share, authorized 500,000 shares — —
Common shares, par value $1 per share, authorized 50,000,000 shares,

20,112,243 issued in 2004 and 19,832,108 issued in 2003 20,112 19,832
Additional paid-in capital 158,548 150,097
Retained earnings 96,004 69,059
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of income tax
benefit (529,617 in 2004 and $20,348 in 2003) (42,619) (29,281)
Treasury shares at cost {94,585 shares in 2004 and 88,128 shares in 2003 ) (1,449) (1,255)
Unearned Employee Stock Ownership Plan shares (16,039) (17,290)
Deferred compensation under Long-Term Incentive Plan (2,408) (479)
Management group receivables (221) (351)

Total shareholders’ equity 211,928 190,332

$ 546,689 $ 494,696

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

EDO CoRrPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount
(In thousands)

Shares

46

Common Shares

Balance at beginning of year 19,832 19,832 19,790 19,790 19,790 19,790
Exercise of stock options 164 164 31 31 — —
Shares used for Long-Term Incentive Plan 116 116 11 11 — —
Balance at end of year 20,112 20,112 19,832 19,832 19,790 19,790
Additional Paid-In Capital
Balance at beginning of year 150,097 147,091 143,747
Exercise of stock options 1,371 150 (466)
Income tax benefit related to stock options
and Long-Term Incentive Plan 1,134 328 713
Shares used for payment of directors’ fees 60 28 64
Shares used for Long-Term Incentive Plan 2,807 178 24
Compensation expense on accelerated options — 292 —
Employee Stock Ownership Plan shares
committed-to-be-released 3,079 2,030 2,792
Balance at end of year 158,548 150,097 147,091
Retained Earnings
Balance at beginning of year 69,059 56,325 47,744
Net earnings 29,068 14,809 10,629
Common share dividends (12 cents per share) (2,123) (2,075) (2,048)
Balance at end of year 96,004 69,059 56,325
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
Balance at beginning of year (29,281) (33,899) (13,385)
Unrealized gain on foreign currency, net of tax (273) 50 86
Additional minimum pension liability, net of tax (13,065) 4,568 (20,600)
Balance at end of year (42,619) (29,281) (33,899)
Treasury Shares at Cost
Balance at beginning of year (1,255) (88) (1,321) (94) (2,461) (182)
Shares used for exercise of stock options — — 87 6 952 69
Shares used for payment of directors’ fees 80 5 80 6 78 6
Shares (repurchased from) used for
Long-Term Incentive Plan (274) (12) (101) (6) 110 13
Balance at end of year (1,449) (95) (1,255) (88) (1,321) (94)




Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Amount Amount Shares Amount Shares
{In thousands)
Deferred Compensation Under
Long-Term Incentive Plan
Balance at beginning of year (479) (579) (300)
Shares used for Long-Term Incentive Plan (2,845) (189) (480)
Amortization of Long-Term Incentive Plan
deferred compensation expense 916 289 201
Balance at end of year (2,408) (479) (579)
Unearned Employee Stock Ownership
Plan Compensation
Balance at beginning of year (17,290) (18,541) (19,792)
Employee Stock Ownership Plan Shares
committed-to-be-released 1,251 1,251 1,251
Balance at end of year (16,039) (17,290) (18,541)
Management Group Receivables
Balance at beginning of year (351) (593) (845)
Payments received on management loans 130 242 252
Balance at end of year (221 (351) (593)
Total Shareholders’ Equity $211,928 $190,332 $ 168,273
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Net earnings S 29,068 $ 14,809 S 10,629
Additional minimum pension liability, net of
income tax benefit (expense) of $9,079 in
2004, ($3,175) in 2003 and $14,316 in 2002 (13,065) 4,568 (20,600)
Unrealized gain on foreign currency, net of tax (273) 50 86
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 15730 $ 19,427 $  (9,885)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

EDO CorroratioN AND SUBSIDIARIES

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)

Operating Activities:

Earnings from operations S 29,068 $ 1341 $ 10,629
Adjustments to earnings to arrive at cash provided by operations:
Depreciation 10,476 12,180 10,365
Amortization 5,564 4,885 956
Deferred tax benefit (660) (6,840) (2,984)
Write-off of purchased in-process research and development — — 150
Bad debt expense — 568 407
Loss on sale of Deer Park facility — 9,160 —
Loss (gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment 255 (131) 53
Deferred compensation expense 916 289 201
Non-cash Employee Stock Ownership Plan compensation expense 4,330 3,281 4,043
Dividends on unallocated Employee Stock Ownership Plan shares 272 292 312
Non-cash compensation expense — 292 —
Common shares issued for directors’ fees 140 108 142
Income tax benefit from stock options and Long-Term Incentive Plan 1,134 328 713
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle — — 3,363
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable (19,507) (3,203) (2,519)
Inventories (18,134) 1,406 (2,926)
Prepayments and other assets 3,588 4,032 220
Contribution te defined benefit pension plan — (5,000) —
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other 2,744 (5,402) 5,217
Contract advances and deposits 5,501 (12,082) 3,575
Cash provided by operations 25,687 17,574 31,917
Net cash provided by discontinued operations — 79 —
Investing Activities:
Purchase of plant and equipment (14,206) (8,865) {7,093)
Payments received on notes receivable 1,200 1,385 350
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment — 21,304 1
Restricted cash — 27,347 (27,347)
Cash received (paid) related to acquisitions, net of cash acquired 301 (94,188) (59,024)
Cash used by investing activities (12,705) (53,017) (93,113)
Financing Activities:
Issuance of convertible subordinated notes — — 137,800
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 1,535 268 486
Proceeds from management group receivables 130 242 252
Repayments of acquired debt — (8,660) —
Payment made on note payable — — (500)
Payment of common share cash dividends (2,395) (2,367) (2,360)
Cash (used) provided by financing activities (730) (10,517) 135,678
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 12,252 (45,881) 74,482
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 86,632 132,513 58,031
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 98,884 $ 86,632 $ 132,513

Supplemental disclosures:

Cash paid for:
Interest $ 7,234 $ 7,234 S 3,878
Income taxes $ 16,278 $ 11,880 S 14,063

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EDO Corporation aND SussiniariEs— Decemser 31, 2004, 2003 anp 2002

(1)  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Principles of Consolidation and Business

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of EDO Corporation and all wholly-owned subsidiaries (the
“Company”). All significant intercompany accounts and trans-
actions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company operates in three segments: Defense, Communi-
cations and Space Products, and Engineered Materials.

(b) Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all securities with an original matu-
rity of three months or less at the date of acquisition to be cash
equivalents. Included in cash equivalents is marketable securi-
ties that are held in mutual funds.

(0 Revenue Recognition

Sales under long-term, fixed-price contracts, including pro-rata
profits, are generally recorded based on the relationship of costs
incurred to date to total projected final costs or, alternatively, as
deliveries and other milestones are achieved or services are pro-
vided. These projections are revised throughout the lives of the
contracts. Adjustments to profits resulting from such revisions
are made cumulative to the date of change and may affect cur-
rent period earnings.

Our gross profit is affected by a variety of factors, including the
mix of products, systems and services sold or provided, produc-
tion efficiencies, price competition and general economic con-
ditions. Estimated losses on long-term contracts are recorded
when identified.

(d) Inventories

Inventories under long-term contracts and programs reflect
all accumulated production costs, including factory overhead,
initial tooling and other related costs (including general and
administrative expenses relating to certain of our defense con-
tracts), less the portion of such costs charged to cost of sales. All
other inventories are stated at the lower of cost (principally first-
in, first-out method) or market. Inventory costs in excess of
amounts recoverable under contracts and which relate to a spe-
cific technology or application and which may not have alterna-
tive uses are charged to cost of sales when such circumstances
are identified.

From time to time, we manufacture certain products prior to
receiving firm contracts in anticipation of future demand. Such
costs are inventoried and are incurred to help maintain stable
and efficient production schedules.

Several factors may influence the sale and use of our inven-
tories, including our decision to exit a product line, techno-
logical change, new product development and/or revised esti-

mates of future product demand. If inventory is determined
to be overvalued due to one or more of the above factors, we
would be required to recognize such loss in value at the time of
such determination.

Under the contractual arrangements by which progress pay-
ments are received, the United States Government has a title to
or a security interest in the inventories identified with related
contracts.

(e) Long-Lived Assets, Other than Goodwill and Other Intangibles

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and is gen-
erally depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of such assets. Amortization of leasehold improve-
ments is computed using the straight-line method over the
shorter of the remaining lease term or the estimated useful lives
of the improvements.

In those cases where the Company determines that the use-
ful life of property, plant and equipment should be shortened,
the Company would depreciate the net book value in excess
of salvage value over its revised remaining useful life thereby
increasing depreciation expense. Factors such as technological
advances, changes to the Company’s business model, changes
in the Company’s capital strategy, changes in the planned use
of equipment, fixtures, software or changes in the planned use
of facilities could result in shortened useful lives.

The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment
in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) Statement of Financial Accounting Standard
(“SFAS”) No. 144, “Accounting for Impairment or Disposal
of Long-Lived Assets”. The Company adopted SFAS No. 144
on January 1, 2002. SFAS No. 144 requires the Company to
review its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of any such asset may not be recoverable. The estimate of cash
flow, which is used to determine recoverability, is based upon,
among other things, certain assumptions about future operat-
ing performance.

The Company’s estimates of undiscounted cash flow may dif-
fer from actual cash flow due ro such factors including techno-
logical advances, changes to the Company’s business model,
or changes in the Company’s capital strategy or planned use
of long-lived assets. If the sum of the undiscounted cash flows,
excluding interest, is less than the carrying value, we would rec-
ognize an impairment loss, measured as the amount by which
the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the asset.

Costs associated with the acquisition and development of soft-
ware for internal use are recognized in accordance with State-
ment of Position (“SOP”) No. 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs
of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal
Use” In 2004 and 2003, the Company capitalized approxi-
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mately $0.6 million and $4.3 million, respectively, of such
costs. These costs are being amortized on a straight-line basis
over periods ranging from two to four years.

Deferred financing costs are amortized on a straight-line basis
over the life of the related financing. The unamortized balances
of $2.7 million and $4.1 million are included in other assets at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

(f) Business Combinations and Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS Nos. 141, “Business Com-
binations,” and 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”
SFAS No. 141 requires that the purchase method of account-
ing be used for all business combinations initiated after June
30, 2001. SFAS No. 141 also includes guidance on the inidal
recognition and measurement of goodwill and other intangi-
ble assets arising from business combinations completed after
June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 142 prohibits the amortization of
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and
requires that these assets be reviewed for impairment at least
annually. Intangible assets with definite lives will continue to

be amortized over their estimated useful lives. SFAS No. 142
was adopted by the Company effective January 1, 2002; how-
ever, the provisions that provide for the non-amortization of
goodwill were effective July 1, 2001 for acquisitions completed
after the issuance of SFAS No. 141.

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, goodwill must be tested at
least annually for impairment at the reporting unit level. If an
indication of impairment exists, we are required to determine if
such goodwill’s implied fair value is less than the carrying value
in order to determine the amount, if any, of the impairment
loss required to be recorded. Impairment indicators include,
among other conditions, cash flow deficits, an historic or antic-
ipated decline in revenue or operating profits, adverse legal or
regulatory developments, accumulation of costs significantly in
excess of amounts originally expected to acquire the asset and/
or a material decrease in the fair value of some or ali of the
assets. The Company performs the required impairment tests
of goodwill as of October 1 each year. There was no indication
of impairment at December 31, 2004 and 2003.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment for
the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

Communications
and Space Engineered
Defense Products Materials Total
(In thousands)
Balance as of January 1, 2003 $ 57,660 $ 3,692 S — $ 61,352
Settlement of certain pre-acquisition Condor liabilities 1,569 (2,031) — (462)
Adjustments to pre-acquisition tax liabilities (3,059) — — (3,059)
Acquisition of AERA 11,626 — — 11,626
Acquisition of Darlington 13,462 — — 13,462
Acquisition of Emblem 9,608 — — 9,608
Balance as of January 1, 2004 S 90,866 $ 1,661 S — $ 92,527
Adjustment of certain AERA liabilities 23 — — 23
Emblem purchase price adjustment (301) — — (301)
Adjustments to pre-acquisition tax liabilities (598) — — (598)
Balance as of December 31, 2004 S 89,990 $ 1,661 S — $ 91,651
Summarized below are intangible assets subject to amortization as of December 31:
2004 2003 Life
(In thousands)
Capitalized non-compete agreements related to the
acquisitions of DSI/AERA/Darlington/Emblem $ 3118 $ 318 1-5 years
Purchased technologies related to the acquisitions of Condor/Emblem 17,003 17,003 8-20 years
Customer contracts and relationships related to the
acquisitions of AERA/Darlington/Emblem 39,198 39,198 10-20 years
Tradename related to the acquisitions of AERA/Darlington/Emblem 1,569 1,569 5-10 years
Other intangible assets related to the acquisition of Condor Systems, Inc. 916 916 2 years
61,804 61,804
Less accumulated amortization (11,448) (5,906)
$ 50356 $ 55898




The amortization expense for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002 amounted to $5.5 million, $4.9 million
and $0.9 million, respectively. Amortization expense for 2005,
2006, 2007, 2008, 2009 and thereafter related to these intan-
gible assets is estimated to be $5.3 million, $5.3 million, $5.1
million, $4.5 million, $4.4 million and $25.8 million, respec-
tively.

(9) Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future
tax consequences attributable to differences between the finan-
cial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities
and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to rax-
able income in the years in which those temporary differences
are expected to be realized or settled. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in
income in the period that includes the enactment date.

(h) Treasury Shares

Common shares held as treasury shares are recorded at cost,
with issuances from treasury recorded at average cost. Treasury
shares issued for directors’ fees are recorded as an expense for
an amount equal to the fair market value of the common shares
on the issuance date.

(i) Financial Instruments

The net carrying value of notes receivable approximates fair
value based on current rates for comparable commercial mort-
gages. The fair value of the Company’s 5.25% Convertible
Subordinated Notes due 2007 (the “Notes”) at December 31,
2004 was approximately $146.8 million based on recent mar-
ket transactions compared to a carrying value of $137.8 mil-
lion. At December 31, 2003, the fair value of the Notes was
approximately $150.6 million based on recent market transac-
tions compared to a carrying value of $137.8 million. The fair
value of the environmental obligation approximates its carrying
value since it has been discounted. The fair values of all other
financial instruments approximate book values because of the
short-term maturities of these instruments.

(j) Useof Estimates

Management of the Company has made a number of estimates
and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets and liabili-
ties and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities to pre-
pare these consolidated financial statements in conformiry with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
Actual resules could differ from these and other estimares.

(k) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation plans
in accordance with Accounting Principles Board (“APB”)

Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”
and related interpretations. Under APB No. 25, because the
exercise price of the Company’s stock options is set equal to the
market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no
compensation expense is recognized. The following table illus-
trates the effect on net earnings and earnings per share if the
Company had applied the fair market value recognition provi-
sions of SFAS No. 123 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compen-
sation” whereby compensation expense would be recognized as
incurred for stock-based employee compensation. For purposes
of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options
is amortized to expense over the options’ vesting period. The
per share weighted-average fair value of stock options granted
was $13.06, $10.63 and $15.28 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respec-
tively, on the dates of grant using the Black Scholes option-pric-
ing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:
2004 — expected dividend yield of 1%, risk free interest rate
of 3.8%, expected volatility of 47%, and an expected option
life of 6 years; 2003 — expected dividend yield of 1%, risk
free interest rate of 3.6%), expected volatility of 51%, and an
expected option life of 7 ¥4 years; 2002 — expected dividend
yield of 1%, risk free interest rate of 4.8%, expected stock vola-
tility of 51%, and an expected option life of 7 ¥4 years.

2004 2003 2002
(In thousands, except
per share amounts)
Earnings:
As reported $ 29,068 $ 13411 $ 10,629

Deferred compensation

expense, net of tax 540 171 119
Stock option

compensation expense

based on fair value

method, net of tax (2,079) (1,797} (1,197)
Pro forma $ 27529 $ 11,785 S 9,551
Basic earnings per
common share;
As reported $ 1.64 S 078 $ 0.62
Pro forma 1.56 0.68 0.56
Diluted earnings per
common share:
As reported $ 1.49 § 076 $ 0.61
Pro forma 1.42 0.67 0.55

As permitted by SFAS 123, we currently account for share-
based payments to employees using APB No. 25’ intrinsic
value method and generally recognize no compensation cost
for employee stock options. Accordingly, the adoption of SFAS
123(R)’s fair value method will have a significant impact on
our result of operations, although it will have no impact on our
overall financial position. The impact of the adoption of SFAS
123(R) cannot be predicted ac this time because it will depend
on levels of share-based payments granted in the future. How-
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ever, had we adopted Statement 123(R) in prior periods, the
impact of that standard would have approximated the impact
of SFAS 123 as described in the disclosure of pro forma net
income and earnings per share. SFAS 123(R) also requires the
benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation
cost to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an
operating cash flow as required under current literature.

() Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year presenta-
tions to conform to current year presentations.

(2) Acquisitions

On June 16, 2003, the Company acquired for cash all of the
stock of Emblem Group Lid. (“Emblem”), a privately-held
company based in Brighton, England. Emblem, now known as
EDO (UK) Ltd., is a supplier of aerospace and defense prod-
ucts and services, primarily through its MBM Technology Ltd.
unit in England, now known as EDO MBM Technology Lid.,
and Arcisan Technologies, Inc. subsidiary in the United States,
now known as EDO Artisan. Emblem has a core competency
in aircraft weapons-carriage and interfacing systems that rein-
forces EDO’s position as a global leader in aircraft armament
release systems. Emblem is expected to broaden the Company’s
customer base in Europe. The purchase price was £16.1 million
(827.0 million), excluding ctransaction costs of approximately
$1.9 million. In the second quarter of 2004 we received $0.3
million from an escrow account resulting in a decrease in pur-
chase price and, therefore, goodwill. Emblem became part of
the Company’s Defense segment. The excess of the purchase
price over the net assets acquired recorded as goodwill and
other intangibles related to Emblem’s units located in England
is deductible for U.S. income tax purposes over 15 years. The
excess of the purchase price over the net assets acquired related
to Artisan Technologies, Inc. is not deductible for income tax
purposes.

On March 10, 2003, the Company acquired for cash all of the
stock of Darlington, Inc. (“Darlington”), a privately-held defense
communications company based in Alexandria,Virginia. Dar-
lington designs, manufactures and supports military commu-
nications equipment and information networking systems. The
acquisition has enhanced the Company’s existing positions on
long-range platforms and programs across the U.S. military
services and in particular the U.S. Marine Corps. The purchase
price was $25.6 million, excluding transaction costs of approxi-
mately $0.3 million. In addition, the Company acquired and
immediately paid off debt of $4.9 million. Darlingron became
part of the Company’s Defense segment. The excess of the pur-
chase price over the net assets acquired recorded as goodwill
and other intangible assets is deductible for income tax pur-
poses over 15 years.

On February 5, 2003, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Com-
pany acquired for cash all of the stock of Advanced Engineer-
ing & Research Associates, Inc.(“AERA”), a privately-held
company located in Alexandria, Virginia. AERA, which was
merged with another EDO subsidiary and renamed EDO Pro-
fessional Services Inc., provides professional and information
technology services primarily to the Department of Defense
and other government agencies. The acquisition expanded the
range of such services that the Company offers. The purchase
price was $38.1 million, excluding transaction costs of $0.3 mil-
lion. In addition, the Company acquired and immediately paid
off debrt of $3.8 million. AERA became part of the Company’s
Defense segment. The excess of the purchase price over the net
assets acquired recorded as goodwill and other intangible assets
is deductible for income tax purposes over 15 years.

On July 26, 2002, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed cerrain lia-
bilities of Condor Systems, Inc., a privately-held defense elec-
tronics company and its domestic subsidiary (together, “Con-
dor”) for $62.5 million in cash, in addirion to transaction costs
of $5.0 million. The acquisition expanded the Company’s elec-
tronic warfare business in the areas of reconnaissance and sur-
veillance systems. The assets became part of the Company’s
Defense and Communications and Space Products segments.
The excess of the purchase price over the net assets acquired
recorded as goodwill, IPR&D and other intangible assets is
deductible for income tax purposes over 15 years.

Associated with the acquisition and included in operating earn-
ings for 2003 and 2002 is $0.9 million and $0.6 million, respec-
tively, of acquisition-related costs, of which $0.2 million in
2002 represents the write-off of purchased in-process research
and development (“IPR&D?”). This IPR&D was determined to
not have reached technological feasibility and to not have alter-
native future use. The development project related to detecting
and locating weak modulated continuous wave signals.

These acquisitions were accounted for as purchases and, accord-
ingly, their operating results are included in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements since their respective acqui-
sition dates.




The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase
price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date
of acquisition.

Emblem Darlington AERA
AtJune16, AtMarch10, AtFebruarys5,
2003 2003 2003
(In thousands)
Current assets $ 9314 § 11,943 $ 13,022
Plant and
equipment 3,537 1,534 1,048
Customer
contracts and
relationships 7,698 14,400 17,100
Purchased
technologies 5,355 — —
Non-compete
agreements 318 30 2,420
Tradename 669 400 500
Goodwill 8,710 13,462 11,649
Other assets — 446 414
Liabilities (6,660) (16,326) (7,791)
Total purchase
price $ 28,941 $ 25,889 $ 38,362

Adjustments resulting from the settlement of purchase prices

on AERA, Darlington and Emblem have been made.

Unaudited pro forma results of operations, assuming the acqui-
sitions of Emblem, Darlington, AERA and Condor had been
completed at the beginning of each period are summarized
below. The results reflect adjustments to net sales, cost of sales,
amortization expense, compensation expense, purchased in-
process research and development costs, interest income and
expense and income tax expense. The interest rate used in deter-
mining pro forma adjustments to interest income or expense
was based on the average yield of the Company’s invested cash
and cash equivalents and approximated 1.0% for each of the
respective periods presented below.

Year ended December 31,
2003 2002
{In thousands, except
per share amounts)
Net sales $ 489,531 $ 494,332
Earnings available for common
shares, before discontinued
operations and cumulative
effect of a change in
accounting principle $ 15995 $ 15,456
Diluted earnings per
common share $ 0.91 S 0.89

The pro forma results of operations are not necessarily indica-
tive of the actual results of operations that would have occurred

had these acquisitions been completed at the beginning of the
periods, or of the results which may occur in the future.

(3) Discontinued Operations

In 2003, we received notification of final settlement of bank-
ruptcy matters pertaining to our former energy business. Upon
the discontinuance of such business in 1996, a liabilicy was
established pending final settlement of the bankruptcy. This
liability was reversed in the second quarter of 2003. Conse-
quently, $1.4 million, net of income tax expense of $1.0 million,
was reported as earnings from discontinued operations in the
accompanying statement of earnings.

(4) Accounts and Notes Receivable

Accounts receivable included $51.8 million and $44.1 million
at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, of unbilled rev-
enues. Substantially all of the unbilled balances at December
31, 2004 will be billed and are expected to be collected dur-
ing 2005. Toral billed receivables due from the United States
Government, either directly or as a subcontractor to a prime
contractor with the Government, were $70.9 million and $67.6
million at December 31, 2004 and 2003 respectively.

Notes receivable consist of the following at December 31, 2004
and December 2003:

2004 2003
(In thousands)
Current:
College Point $ 400 $ 1,600
Deer Park 6,802 —
Long-term:
Deer Park — 6,538
Total $ 7,202 $ 8138

The original notes from the sale of the College Point faciliry
in January 1996 were to be paid in full by December 31, 2004.
However, one note was collected in full in 2004 and the other
note was amended and extended to December 31, 2005. The
lacter note is due in equal quarterly amounts through Septem-
ber 2005 with a final payment of $0.1 million due on Decem-
ber 31, 2005 and bears interest at 7% per annum. It is secured
by a mortgage on the facility. Also included in notes receivable
is the note related to the sale of the Company’s Deer Park facil-
ity in July 2003. The note is due no later than October 9, 2005.
The note accrues imputed interest at 4% per annum and will be
paid with the note.
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(5) Inventories

Inventories are summarized by major classification as follows
at December 31:

2004 2003
{In thousands)

Raw material and supplies $ 10,461 $ 8624

Work-in-process 44,752 38,052

Finished goods 2,043 1,870
Less: Unliquidated

progress payments (4,389) (13,813)

Total $ 52,867 $ 34733

(6) Property, Plant and Equipment, Net

The Company’s property, plant and equipment at December 31
and their related useful lives are summarized as follows:

2004 2003
{In thousands) Life

Land s 125§ 125
Buildings and
improvements 1,017 1,017  10-30years
Machinery and
equipment 73,466 66,891 3-19 years
Software 7,190 6,347 2-4 years
Leasehold improvements 16,816 16,039 Lease terms

98,614 90,419
Less accumulated
depreciation and
amortization (63,784) (59,064)

$ 34830 $ 31,355

On June 24, 2003, the Board of Directors of the Company
approved the decision to sell the Company’s 726,000 square
foot facility in Deer Park, NY. The Company recorded a pre-
tax impairment loss of $9.2 million in the second quarter of
2003, as the net book value of the assets exceeded the fair value

less the costs to sell. The fair value was based on a $29.0 million
sales price per the sales agreement entered into in July 2003.
This impairment charge represents the entire loss the Company
expects to incur.

Of the $29.0 million sales price, $22.0 million is in cash and
$7.0 million is in the form of a purchase money mortgage and
note. The Company closed on the sale in October 2003 and
received the cash less closing payments. The note receivable is
due no later than October 9, 2005. As part of the agreement,
we will lease the facility through October 10, 2005, with the
option to terminate before such date. The lease agreement does
not have any renewal or buyout options.

(7) Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following at December 31:

2004 2003
(In thousands)
Employee compensation and benefits $ 20,066 $ 22,453

Deferred revenue and accrual
for future costs related to

acquired contracts 8,857 11,161
Income taxes payable 2,950 10,438
Accrued interest 1,579 1,673
Warranty 1,354 1,612
Current portion of

environmental obligation 280 264
Other 13,406 12,146

$ 48492 S 59,747

(8) Long-Term Debt and Credit Facility

Credit Facility

At December 31, 2004, the Company has a $200 million credit
facility with a consortium of banks, led by Citibank, N.A. as
the administrative agent, Fleet National Bank as the syndica-
tion agent and Wachovia Bank, N.A. as the documentation
agent. The facility expires in November 2005. In connection
with the amended facility, $0.4 million and $0.9 million of
deferred finance costs are included in other assets on the accom-
panying consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2004 and
2003, respectively, and are being amortized using the straight-
line method over the term of the agreement.

The credit facility provides sub-limits of borrowing up to $125.0
million for acquisition-related financing and up to $125.0 mil-
lion in standby letters of credit financing. The potential cash
borrowing under the facility is reduced by the amount of out-
standing letters of credit. Any borrowings under the facil-
ity would be priced initially at LIBOR plus a predetermined
amount, ranging from 1.25% to 1.75%, depending on the Com-
pany’s consolidated leverage ratio at the time of the borrowing.
At December 31, 2004, LIBOR was approximately 2.55% and
the applicable adjustment to LIBOR was 1.25%. The facility
requires the Company to pay each lender in the consortium a
commitment fee on the average daily unused portion of their
respective commitment at a rate equal to 0.25%.

There were no direct borrowings outstanding under the credit
facility ac December 31, 2004 or 2003. Letters of credit out-
standing at December 31, 2004 pertaining to the credit facil-
ity were $39.8 million, resulting in $85.2 million available for
additional letters of credit, if needed.

In connection with the credit facility, the Company is required
to maintain both financial and non-financial covenants and
ratios, including, but not limited to, minimum tangible net




worth plus subordinated debt, leverage ratio, fixed charge
coverage ratio, earnings before interest and taxes to inter-
est expense ratio, total unsubordinated debt to tangible net
worth, net income and dividends. Also, the Company cannot
declare or pay any dividend on its outstanding common stock
in an amount thart exceeds fifty percent of its consolidated net
income for the immediately preceding quarter. As of December
31, 2004, the Company was in compliance with its covenants.
The credit facility is secured by the Company’s accounts receiv-
ables, inventory and machinery and equipment.

5.25% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2007

In April 2002, the Company completed its offering of $137.8
million of 5.25% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2007
and received $133.7 million, net of commissions paid. Interest
payments on the Notes are due April 15 and October 15 of each
year, commencing on October 15, 2002. Accrued interest pay-
able, included in accrued liabilities on the accompanying con-
solidated balance sheet, was $1.5 million at December 31, 2004
and 2003.

In connection with the offering of the Notes, there are $2.1
million and $3.1 million of unamortized debrt issuance costs at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, which are included
in other assets on the accompanying consolidated balance
sheet and are being amortized using the straight-line method
through April 2007.

The Notes are convertible, unless previously redeemed or repur-
chased by the Company, at the option of the holder at any time
prior to maturity, into the Company’s common stock at an ini-
tial conversion price of $31.26 per share, subject to adjustment
in certain events. As of December 31, 2004, there had been no
such conversions.

(9) Employee Stock Ownership Plan and Trust

The Company sponsors an employee stock ownership plan
(ESOP) which provides retirement benefits to substantially all
employees.

The ESOP has an indirect loan from the Company payable
through December 31, 2017. As quarterly payments are made
under the indirect loan, unallocated common shares in the
ESOP are committed-to-be-released. The allocation to partic-
ipants is based on (i) a match of 50% of the first 6% of the
participants’ 401(k) contributions; (ii) a special allocation for
employees who meert certain service requirements (iii) a fixed
amount per participant chosen annually; and (iv) any remain-
ing distribution is based on participants’ relative compensation.
The cost basis of the unearned/unallocated shares is initially
recorded as a reduction to shareholders’ equity. Compensation
expense is recorded based on the market value of the Compa-
ny’s common shares as they are committed-to-be-released. The
difference between the marker value and the cost basis of the

shares is recorded as additional paid-in capital. Dividends on
unallocated shares are recorded as compensation expense.

In 2004, 2003 and 2002, non-cash ESOP compensation
expense recorded by the Company amounted to $4.3 million,
$3.3 million, and $4.0 million, respectively. At December 31,
2004, there are 2,161,180 unearned/unallocated shares which
have an aggregate market value of $68.6 million and 1,756,996
allocated shares. Total principal and interest payments made in
2004, 2003, and 2002 under the merged ESOP indirect loan
amounted to $1.7 million in each of the three years.

(10) Income Taxes

The 2004, 2003 and 2002 significant components of the provi-
sion for income taxes attributable to continuing operations are
as follows:

2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)
Federal
Current $ 13,375 $ 12,927 S 10,659
Deferred (533) (5,200) (2,503)
S 12,842 $ 7,027 S 8,156
Foreign
Current $ (25) $ 207 S —
Deferred 77 82 —
$ 52 $ 289 $ —
State
Current $ 2,876 $ 3,350 S 2667
Deferred (204) (1,022) (481)
S 2672 S 2328 $ 2186
Total $ 15,566 $ 9,644 $ 10,342
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The reconciliation of income tax attriburable to continuing
operations computed at the U.S. Federal tax rate to income tax
expense is:

Percent of Pre-tax Earnings

2004 2003 2002

Tax at statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State taxes, net of

Federal benefit 47 5.0 5.0
Reserve Adjustment (6.2) — —
Non-cash ESOP

compensation expense 1.9 2.0 3.0
Foreign sales benefit (1.1) (1.3) (1.4)
Other, net 0.6 1.1 0.9
Effective income tax rate 34.9% 41.8% 42.5%

The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities
as of December 31 are as follows:

2004 2003
(In thousands)

Deferred Tax Assets

Retirement plans’ additional

minimum liability $ 29521 $§ 20442
Post-retirement benefits

obligation other than pensions 5,507 5,233
Deferred revenue 1,185 1,697
Non-qualified plans 4,145 3,614
Inventory valuation 1,597 1,897
Vacation accrual 1,643 886
Other 1,699 967
Total deferred tax assets 45,297 34,736
Deferred Tax Liabilities

Depreciation and amortization 4,754 4,306
Prepaid pension asset 4,823 3,613

Other 433 1,449
Total deferred tax liabilities 10,010 9,368
Net deferred tax asset $ 35287 $ 25368

The Company is subject to ongoing tax examinations in vari-
ous jurisdictions, which may result in challenges to tax posi-
tions taken and, accordingly, the Company may record adjust-
ments to provisions based on the probable outcomes of such
matters. However, the Company believes that the resolution
of these matters will not have a material effect on its financial
position, results of operations or cash flows. In 2004, the Com-
pany recorded an income tax benefit of $2.8 million due to the
reversal of income tax contingencies which were determined to
be no longer needed during the fourth quarter of 2004.

(11) Shareholders’ Equity

At various times beginning in 1983, the Board of Directors has
authorized and subsequently increased by amendments, a plan
to purchase an aggregate amount of 4,190,000 common shares.
As of December 31, 2004, the Company had acquired approxi-
mately 4,091,000 common shares in open market transactions
at prevailing market prices. Approximately 4,046,000 of these
shares have been used for various purposes, including: conver-
sion of preferred shares; contributions of common shares to the
EDO ESOP; grants pursuant to the Company’s Long-Term
Incentive Plans; payment of directors’ fees; partial payment of a
50% stock dividend; and stock options exercised. As of Decem-
ber 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, the Company held 94,585
and 88,128 commion shares in its treasury for future use.

At December 31, 2004, the Company had reserved 6,083,511
authorized and unissued common shares for stock option and
long-term incentive plans and conversion of the Notes.

(12) Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and
diluted earnings per share:

2004 2003 2002
{In thousands)

Numerator:
Earnings from
continuing
operations for
basic calculation $
Effect of dilutive
securities:

Convertible notes

Numerator for
diluted calculation $

29,068 $ 13411 $ 10629

4,268 — —

33336 $ 13411 $ 10629

Denominator:

Denominator for
basic calculation
Effect of dilutive
securities:

Stock options 274 253 299

Convertible notes 4,408 — —
Denominator for
diluted calculation

17,695 17,308 17,080

22,377 17,561 17,379

The assumed conversion of the Notes was dilutive for 2004 and
anti-dilutive for 2003 and 2002.

The following table summarizes, for cach year presented, the
number of shares excluded from the computation of diluted
earnings per share, as their effect upon potential issuance was
anti-dilutive.




Forthe Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
{In thousands)
5.25% Convertible
Subordinated Notes —_ 4,408 3,285
Unexercised stock options 2 311 326
2 4,719 3,611

(13} Stock Plans

The Company has granted nonqualified stock options to offi-
cers, directors and other key employees under plans approved

by the shareholders in 2002 for the purchase of its common
shares at the fair market value of the common shares on the
dates of grant. Options under the 2002 Long-Term Incentive
Plan (“LTIP”) generally become exercisable on the third anni-
versary of the date of the grant and expire on the tenth anni-
versary of the date of the grant. The 2002 LTIP will expire
in 2012. Options under the 2002 Non-Employee Director
Stock Option Plan (“NEDSOP”), which pertains only to non-
employee directors, are immediately exercisable and expire on
the tenth anniversary of the date of the grant. The 2002 NED-
SOP will also expire in 2012.

Changes in options outstanding are as follows:

2004 2003 2002
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Shares Subject Average Shares Subject Average Shares Subject
Exercise Price to Option Exercise Price to Option Exercise Price to Option
Beginning of year $ 1465 1,206,096 $ 1359 1,057,143 $ 7.75 805,876
Options granted 24.37 65,000 19.00 224,405 26.72 327,850
Options exercised 9.35 (164,135) 6.66 (37,327) 6.98 (69,433)
Options expired/cancelled 23.05 (23,150) 18.53 (38,125) 22.02 (7,150)
End of year $ 1586 1,083,811 S 1465 1,206,096 $ 1359 1,057,143
Exercisable at year end $ 1233 732,956 S 11.26 602,916 $ 1070 490,243

The options outstanding as of December 31, 2004 are summa-
rized as follows:

Weighted- Number Weighted-
Range of Average of Options Average
Exercise Prices Exercise Price Outstanding Remaining Life
$3.07-5.44 $ 4.31 16,500 1 year
6.13-9.60 7.83 512,456 5 years
17.86-25.01 20.44 289,430 8 years
27.02-31.40 27.09 265,425 7 years
1,083,811

The 2002 LTIP also provides for restricted common share long-
term incentive awards as defined under the plan. As of Decem-
ber 31, 2004 plan participants had been awarded 521,000
restricted common shares. Deferred compensation is recorded
for the fair value of the restricted common share awards on
the date of grant and is amortized over the five-year period the
related services are provided. The fair value of a restricted com-
mon share award is calculated as the average of the high and
low market values of our common shares on the grant date, as
reported for such date on a national exchange or nationally rec-
ognized system of price quotation. In the event that there are
no transactions reported on such exchange or system on such
date, the average would be based on the high and low mar-
ket values of our common shares on the immediately preced-
ing date. The amount charged to operations in 2004, 2003 and
2002 was $0.9 million, $0.3 million and $0.2 million, respec-
tively. The increase in the expense for 2004 compared to prior
years is due to an increase in the amount of shares granted in

2004 as well as the higher fair value on the date of grant. As of
December 31, 2004, 591,511 shares are available for additional

awards.
(14) Other Employee Benefit Plans

Defined Benefit Plans

The Company maintains a qualified noncontributory defined
benefit pension plan covering less than one half of its employ-
ees. In November 2002, the plan was amended whereby par-
ticipation and benefits accrued under the plan were frozen as
of December 31, 2002. The Company’s funding policy is to
make annual contributions to the extent such contributions are
at least equal to the minimum required contribution and are
tax deductible.

In 2004, 2003 and 2002 the Company recorded pension expense
of $2.2 million, $3.9 million and $6.0 million, respectively. For
2002, the expense included a curtailment loss of $2.0 million
resulting from the aforementioned amendment to the plan.

A summary of the weighted-average rate assumptions as of
December 31 used in pension calculations follows. (Since the
Company froze the defined benefit plan in December 2002

there is no future compensation increase for subsequent years.)
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In 2004, the Company made no contribution to the plan com-
pared to a contribution of $5.0 million in 2003. The Company
plans to contribute up to $6.0 million in 2005.

2004 2003 2002

Discount Rate (for obligations

as of December 31) 5.75% 6.25% 6.75%
Expected long-term A summary of the components of net periodic pension expense
return on plan assets 825%  875%  9.50% follows:
Rate of compensation increase - - 4.95%
2004 2003 2002
In 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company used the building block (In thousands)
approach to the estimation of the long-term rate of return on Service cost $ — — $§ (4353

assets. Under this approach, the Company reviewed the pub- Interest on projected

licly available common source data for the range of returns on benefit obligation (12,151) (12,727) (15,001)

basic types of equity and fixed income instruments and the dif- Expected return

ferential to those rates provided by active investment manage- on plan assets 12,705 12,250 17,217
ment. In consultation with the Company’s actuarial and active Amortization of

asset management consultants and taking into account the prior service cost — — (261)
funds’ actual performance and expected asset allocation going Recognized net

forward, the Company selected an overall return rate within actuarial loss (2,737) (3,454) (1,476)
the resulting range. Curtailment loss — — (1,998)
Plan asset investment decisions are made by the Pension Invest- Netpensionexpense $ (2,183) $ (3931) S (5962)

ment Committee of the Board of Directors. This committee  pe following sets forch the funded status of the plan as of
utilizes the services of a financial advisor in the selection and  December 31

monitoring of specific asset managers. At its periodic meet-

ings the committee reviews the performance of various funds 2004 2003
against benchmarks and makes investment decisions which are {In thousands)
then carried out by the fund trustee. The target asset alloca-  Change in projected
tion is 70% equity instruments and 30% fixed income instru- benefit obligation:
ments. The assets are invested in a variety of both actively man- Projected benefit obligation
aged and passive funds chosen by the committee. Futhermore, at beginning of year $ 204439  $ 197,188
equity investments are diversified across U.S. and non-U.S.
stocks, as well as growth, value, and small and large capical- Service cost - -
izations. Our plan investments are diversified to mitigate any ~ Interest cost 12,151 12,727
adverse results from one security class on the entire investment  Benefits paid (18,959) (20,058)
porfolio. A small amount of excess return is expected from  Actuarial loss 24,314 14,582
active investment management. Projected benefit obligation

at end of year $ 221,945 $ 204,439
Plan assets

Change in plan assets:

The assets of the Company’s defined benefit plans are managed ~ Fair value of plan assets

on a commingled basis in a third party master trust. The invest- at beginning of year $ 164,024 $ 148,635
ment policy and allocation of the assets in the master trust were ~ Actual return on plan assets 16,229 30,447
approved by the Company’s Pension Plans Investment Com- Employer contribution — 5,000
mittee of the Board of Directors, which has oversight responsi- Benefits paid (18,959) (20,058)
bility for the Company’s retirement plans. Fair value of plan assets
. . . at end of year $ 161,294 $ 164,024
The investment allocation for each major asset class as a percent Funded status S (60651) S (30415)
of plan asset fair value as of December 31 is as follows: )
Unrecognized net loss 66,415 48,362
2004 2003 2002 Prepaid pension cost $ 5764 $ 7,947
Equity Securities 73.7% 69.7% 65.0% Due to the lower discount rate, offset by positive fund perfor-
Debt Securities 25.7% 29.7% 34.4% mance, the accumulated benefit obligation at December 31,
Cash 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% 2004 and 2003 exceeded the fair value of plan assets by $60.7
Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% million and $40.4 million, respectively. The Company recorded

an additional minimum liability of $66.4 million and $48.4
million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Con-




sequently, net of tax comprehensive loss of $10.7 and income
of $4.2 million were charged against shareholders’ equity in
2004 and 2003, respectively. Amounts recognized in the con-
solidated balance sheets at December 31 are as follows:

2004 2003
(In thousands)

Prepaid pension cost
(included in other assets) $
Additional minimum liability
(included in post-retirement
benefits obligations) $ (66,415) § (48,362)
Accumulated other
comprehensive loss {included in
shareholders’ equity)

5,764 $ 7947

$ 66415 $ 48,362

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following table presents estimated future benefit payments:

(In thousands)

A summary of the components of net periodic pension expense
follows:

2004 2003 2002
{(in thousands)

Service cost $ 220 S 372§ 190
Interest on projected

benefit obligation 700 802 815
Amortization of

transitional liability 3 3 32
Amortization of

prior service cost 63 184 141
Recognized net

actuarial loss 171 273 225
Effect of curtailment — 942 —
Net pensionexpense $ 1,157 & 2576 $ 1403

Summarized below is the funded status of the combined sup-
plemental plans as of December 31:

2005 $ 14173 2004 2003
2006 $ 14,549 fin thousands)
2007 $ 14,803 Change in projected
2008 $ 14,997 benefit obligation:
2009 $ 15199 Projected benefit obligation
2010-2014 § 77,412 at beginning of year $ 11,641 $ 13,047
Service cost 219 372
Non-Qualified Plans Interest cost 700 802
The Company has a supplemental retirement plan for officers Beneflt.s paid (892) (987)
and certain employees. Benefits are based on years of service Actuarial loss 5915 158
and certain compensation that is excluded under the qualified Plan amendments - -
oplan. In November 2003 the plan was amended whereby ben- _Effect of curtailment — (1,752)
efits under the plan were frozen for all but two individuals as ~ Projected benefit obligation
of December 31, 2003. Consequently, a curtailment charge of ~ _2atend of year $ 17583 § 11,640
$0.9 million was recorded in 2003. The plan is unfunded and ~ Changein plan assets:
has no assets. Fair value of plan assets at
. . beginning of the year $ —  $ —
A summary.of the \.fvelghted—av?rage assumptions as of Decem- Employer contribution 892 987
ber 31 used in pension calculations follows: Benefits paid (892) (087)
2004 2003 2002 Fair value of plan assets
Discount Rate (for at end of year $ - 8 —
obligations as of Funded status $ (17,583) $ (11,640)
December 31) 5.75% 6.25% 6.75% Unrecognized net loss 8,081 2,338
Rate of compensation Unrecognized prior service cost 496 558
increase 5.00% 5.00% 4.95% Unrecognized net obligation 4 7
Accrued benefit cost $ (9,002) $ (8737)

Total expenses under the non-qualified plans in 2004, 2003
and 2002 were $1.2 million, $2.6 million and $1.4 million,
respectively. The 2003 expense included the aforementioned
$0.9 million curtailment charge.

The accumulated benefit obligation at December 31, 2004 and
2003 exceeded the fair value of plan assets by $15.1 million and
$10.8 million, respectively. The Company recorded an addi-
tional minimum liability of $6.1 million and $2.1 million as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Consequently, a net
of tax comprehensive loss of $2.4 million and income of $0.4
million were charged against shareholders” equity in 2004 and
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2003, respectively. Amounts recognized in the consolidated
balance sheets at December 31 are as follows:

2004 2003
(In thousands)
Accrued benefit cost
(included in post-retirement
benefits obligation) $ (9002) $ (8737)

Intangible asset (included

in other assets)

Additional minimum liability
(included in post-retirement

$ 500 9§ 565

benefits obligations) $ (6088 $ (2,062
Accumulated other comprehensive

loss (included in

shareholders’ equity) $ 5588 $ 1497

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following table presents estimated future benefir payments:

(In thousands)
2005 S 989
2006 $ 981
2007 $ 1,465
2008 $ 1,463
2009 $ 1,447
2010-2014 S 6886
401(k) Plans

The Company sponsors a 401(k) plan covering substantially all
employees which provides for a match by the Company of 50%
of the first 6% of employee contributions. The match is pro-
vided in the Company’s common stock under the ESOP plan.,

(15} Post-Retirement Health Care and Life Insurance Benefits

The Company provides certain health care and life insurance
benefits to qualified retired employees and dependents ar cer-
tain locations. These benefits are funded as benefits are pro-
vided, with the retiree paying a portion of the cost through
contributions, deductibles and coinsurance provisions. The
Company has always retained the right to modify or terminare
the plans providing these benefits.

In accordance with SFAS No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting
for Post-Retirement Benefits Other Than Pensions,” the Com-
pany recognizes these benefit expenses on an accrual basis as
the employees earn them during their employment racher than
when they are actually paid.

EDO Post-Retirement Benefit Plan

Post-retirement health care and life insurance expense included
the following components:

2004 2003 2002
{In thousands)
Interest cost $ 143 § 126 $ 171
Recognized actuarial loss 53 — —
Total post-retirement
health care and life
insurance expense 5 196 S 126 § 171

The funded status of the EDO post-retirement health care and
life insurance benefits plan is as follows as of December 31:

2004 2003
(In thousands)

Change in accumulated post-

retirement benefit obligation:

Accumulated benefit obligation

at beginning of year $ 2441  $ 2113

Interest cost 143 126

Benefits paid (353) (432)

Participant contributions 29 27

Actuarial loss 62 608
Unfunded accumulated

post-retirement benefit

obligation at end of year $ 2322 $ 2442
Unrecognized net loss (578) (569)
Accrued post-retirement

benefit cost $ 1,744  $ 1873

Actuarial assumptions used in determining the accumulated
post-retirement benefit obligation include a discount rate of
5.75% and 6.25% at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respec-
tively, and estimated increases in health care costs. The Com-
pany has limited its increase in health care costs to 5% per year
by requiring the retirees to absorb any costs in excess of 5% and
has used such rate to measure its obligation.

The effects of a one percentage point change in the assumed
health care cost trend rates would have had the following effects
increase/(decrease) in cost and/or obligation on the results for
fiscal year 2004:

(In thousands)
1% Point 1% Point
Increase Decrease
Benefit obligation
at end of year $ 15.0 $ (14.0)
Interest cost 0.9 (0.9)

The above 1% increase/decrease trend is based primarily on the
change in dental trend rates, since medical plan benefits are
capped.




AlL Post-Retirement Benefit Plan

Post-retirement expense included in the consolidated financial
statements comprised the following:

2004 2003 2002
{In thousands)

Service cost $ 452  § 453§ 313
Interest cost 741 765 431
Recognized net
actuarial loss {gain) 12 40 (269)
Total post-retirement
expense $ 1205 & 1258 § 475

The funded status of the AIL post-retirement benefit plan is as
follows as of December 31:

2004 2003
(In thousands)

Change in accumulated post-
retirement benefit obligation:

Accumulated benefit obligation $ 12,258 S 11,771
Service cost 452 453
Interest cost 741 765
Benefits paid (381) (441)
Actuarial (gain) loss (4,857) (291)
Unfunded accumulated post-

retirement benefit obligation at

end of year $ 8213 § 12257
Unrecognized gain/(loss) 3,474 (1,394)
Accrued post-retirement

benefit cost $ 11,687 5 10863

Actuarial assumptions used in determining the accumulated
post-retirement benefit obligation include a discount rate of

5.75% and 6.25% at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
The accumulated benefic obligation would not be affected by
increases in healthcare costs for retirees since such costs are
funded by the participants. Healthcare trend costs will only
affect the amounts related to disabled participants.

The effects of a one percentage point change in the assumed
healch care cost trend rates would have had the following effects
increase/(decrease) in cost and/or obligation on the results for
fiscal year 2004:

(In thousands)

1% Point 1% Point

Increase Decrease
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 380 $ (352)
Interest cost 0.4 (0.4)

(16) Commitments and Contingencies

In order to aggregate all commitments and contractual obliga-
tions as of December 31, 2004, the following table is included.
The Company is obligated under building and equipment leases
expiring between 2005 and 2017. The aggregate future min-
imum lease commitments under those obligations with non-
cancellable terms in excess of one year are shown below. The
Company’s commitments under letters of credit and advance
payment and performance bonds relate primarily to advances
received on foreign contracts which would be paid only if the
Company failed to perform in accordance with the contract
terms. The Company does not expect to have to make pay-
ments under these letters of credits or bonds since these obli-
gations are removed as we perform under the related contracts.
The amounts for letters of credit and performance bonds repre-
sent the amount of commitment expiration per period.

Payments Due (in millions):

2010 and
Total 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Beyond
5.25% Convertible Subordinated

Notes due 2007 $ 1378 § - S —  $ 1378 % — S — 5 —
Operating leases 109.8 14.4 12.5 1.5 11.0 10.7 49.7
Letters of credit 39.8 375 0.1 22 — — —
Projected pension contributions 29.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 —
Advance payment and performance bonds 1.9 — 0.2 — — 1.7 —
Total $ 3183 $ 579 § 188 $ 1575 § 170 $ 174 5 497
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Actual pension contributions may differ from amounts pre-
sented above and are contingent on cash flow and liquidity.

Rental expense for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002 amounted to $13.6 million, $10.7 million and $5.4
million, respectively.

(17) Legal Matters

The Company and three other companies entered into a consent
decree in 1990 with the Federal government for the remediation
of a Superfund site. The Superfund site has been divided into
three operable units. The consent decree relates to two of the
operable units. The third operable unit has not been formally
studied and, accordingly, no liability has been recorded by the
Company. The Company believes that the aggregate amount
of the obligation and timing of cash payments associated with
the two operable units subject to the consent decree are rea-
sonably fixed and determinable. Accordingly, the environmen-
tal obligation has been discounted at five percent. Manage-
ment estimates that as of December 31, 2004, the discounted
liability over the remainder of the twenty-one years related to
these two operable units is approximately $1.9 million of which
approximarely $0.3 million has been classified as current and
is included in accrued liabilities. Approximately $0.6 million
of the $1.9 million liability will be incurred over the next five
years.

The Company is also involved in other environmental cleanup
efforts, none of which management believes is likely to have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial
position, results of operations or liquidity.

Additionally, the Company and its subsidiaries are subject
to certain legal actions thart arise out of the normal course of
business. It is management’s belief that the ultimate outcome
of these actions will not have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s consolidated financial position, results of opera-
.tions or liquidity.

(18) Business Segments

The Company determines its operating segments based upon
an analysis of its products and services, production processes,
types of customers, economic characteristics and the related
regulatory environment, which is consistent with how manage-
ment operates the Company. The Company’s continuing opera-
tions are conducted in three business segments: Defense, Com-
munications and Space Products, and Engineered Materials.

The Defense segment provides integrated front-line warfighting
systems and components including electronic-warfare systems,
reconnaissance and surveillance systems, aircraft weapons sus-
pension and release systems, integrated combat systems, com-
mand, control, communications, computers, and intelligence
(C4I) products and systems, undersea-warfare systems and

professional and engineering services for military forces and
friendly governments worldwide. The Communications and
Space Products segment supplies antenna products and ultra-
miniature electronics and systems for the remote sensing and
electronic warfare industries. The Engineered Materials seg-
ment supplies commercial and military piezo-electric ceramic
products and integrated composite structures for the aircraft
and oil industries. The Company has a disciplined acquisition
program which is diversifying the base of major platforms and
customers.

Domestic U.S. Government sales, which include sales to prime
contractors of the U.S. Government, amounted to 62%, 76%
and 75% of net sales, which were 73%, 80% and 82% of
Defense’s net sales, 89%, 71% and 62% of Communications
and Space Products’ net sales and 49%, 49% and 42% of Engi-
neered Materials’ net sales for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respec-
tively. International sales comprised 14%, 18% and 15% of net
sales for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. In addition, the
Universal Exciter Upgrade program in the Defense segment
comprised approximately 0%, 2% and 14% of net sales for
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Principal products and services by segment are as follows:

Defense Segment
¢ Reconnaissance and Surveillance Systems
* Command, Control, Communications, Computers and
Intelligence (C4I)
¢ Electronic Warfare
* Undersea Warfare Sonar Systems
¢ Aircraft Armament
* Airborne Mine Countermeasures Systems
* Rugged Computer and Electronics
* Professional and Engineering Services

Communications and Space Products Segment
* Electronic Force Protection Systems
* Interference Cancellation
* Antenna Products

Engineered Materials Seqment
* Electro-Ceramic Products
* Integrated Advanced Composite Structures Products




Information by segmenton sales, operatingearnings, identifiable  Acquisition-related costs in 2003 and 2002, including [IPR&D,
assets, depreciation and amortization, and capital expenditures  attriburable to the Condor acquisition are included in the seg-
is as follows for each of the three years ended December 31: ments as follows:

2004 2003 2002

2004 2003 2002
{In thousands) {In thousands)
Net sales: Defense $ — S 929 $ 567
Defense $406,301 $360,001 $243,447 Communications and
Communications and Space Products — — -
Space Products 81,641 55458 47,262 Engineered Materials — — -
Engineered Materials 48,231 45,208 38,167 Total $ S 929 $ 567
$536,173 $460,667 $328,876
Operating earnings: (19) Guarantor and Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries
Defense o $ 43,064 § 35062 $ 28,674 The Company may, from time to time, issue indebtedness, a
Communications and condition of which would be the guarantee of this indebred-
Space Products 4,294 3583 (441) ness by certain of its subsidiaries. Presented below is condensed
Engineered Materials 5,443 2,385 3,150

consolidating financial information for the Company and the
Impairment loss on contemplated subsidiary guarantors and non-guarantors at
Deer Park facility - (9,160) - December 31, 2004 and 2003 and for each of the three years
Curtailment loss - (942)  (1,998) in the period ended December 31, 2004. There were no sub-

$ 52,801 $ 30,928 $ 29,385 sidiaries that would have been non-guarantor subsidiaries for

Net interest expense (7.848)  (8152)  (4,956) 2002. Each contemplated subsidiary guarantor is 100% owned,
Other (expense) income, net (319) 279 (95) directly or indirectly, by the Company. Any guarantees that
Earnings from continuing may be issued will be full and unconditional, as well as joint
operations before income and several. In connection with the Company’s credir facility,
taxes and cumulative the Company cannot declare or pay any dividend on its out-
effect of a change in

standing common stock in an amount that exceeds fifty per-

accounting principle 5 44634 5 23055 5 24334 cent of its consolidated net income for the immediately preced-
identifiable assets: ing quarter.

Defense $313,979 $303,881 $224,017

Communications and

Space Products 45,867 34,684 40,001

Engineered Materials 33,669 30,482 28,496

Corporate 153,174 125,649 189,060

$546,689 $494,696 $481,574

Depreciation and
amortization:

Defense $ 11,742 $ 12,551 $§ 7,440
Communications and

Space Products 1,934 2,335 1,895
Engineered Materials 1,986 1,893 1,800
Corporate 378 286 186

$ 16,040 $ 17,065 $ 11321

Capital expenditures:

Defense $ 9215 S 4309 $ 3,587
Communications and

Space Products 2,093 956 816
Engineered Materials 2,258 2,347 1,819
Corporate 640 1,253 871

$ 14206 S 8865 § 7,093
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EDO Corporation Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet December 31, 2004

EDO Corporation
Parent Company  Subsidiary
Only Guarantors Non-Guarantors Eliminations  Consolidated
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 91,783 $ 2,660 S 444 $ 98,884
Accounts receivable, net 35,164 113,914 4,732 153,810
Inventories 3,578 44,815 4,474 52,867
Deferred income tax asset, net 5,046 — — 5,046
Notes receivable 7,202 — — 7,202
Prepayments and other 951 2,206 336 3,493
Total current assets 143,724 163,595 13,983 321,302
Investment in subsidiaries 269,025 — — (269,025) —
Property, plant and equipment, net 9,922 21,451 3,457 34,830
Notes receivable — — — —
Goodwill — 82,941 8,710 91,651
Other intangible assets, net — 37,737 12,619 50,356
Deferred income tax asset, net 30,241 — — 30,241
Other assets 17,238 1,071 — 18,309

$ 470,150 $ 306,795 $ 38,769 $ (269,025) S 546,689

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 26,735 $ 48,431 $ 5732 $ 80,898
Contract advances and deposits 2,344 11,352 — 13,696
Total current liabilities 29,079 59,783 5732 94,594
Long-term debt 137,800 — — 137,800
Income taxes payable 5,768 — — 5,768
Deferred income tax liabilities, net (169) — 169 —
Post retirement benefits obligations 83,249 11,687 — 94,936
Environmental obligation 1,663 — — 1,663
Intercompany accounts — 112,704 25911 (138,615) —

Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred shares — — — —

Common shares 20,112 98 — (98) 20,112
Additional paid-in capital 158,548 25,221 6,418 (31,639) 158,548
Retained earnings 96,004 102,376 349 (102,725) 96,004
Accumulated other comprehensive

loss, net of income tax benefit (42,008) (801) 190 (42,619)
Treasury shares (1,449) (4,052) — 4,052 (1,449)
Unearned ESOP shares (16,039) — — (16,039)
Management group receivables — (221) — (227)
Deferred compensation under

Long-Term Incentive Plan (2,408) — — (2,408)
Total shareholders’ equity 212,760 122,621 6,957 (130,410) 211,928

$ 470,150 $ 306,795 $ 38,769 $ (269,025) $ 546,689




EDO Corporation Condensed Consolidating Statement of Earnings December 31, 2004

EDO Corporation
ParentCompany  Subsidiary
Only Guarantors Non-Guarantors Eliminations  Consolidated
Continuing Operations:
Net Sales $ 95,060 $ 425,262 $ 29,062 $ (13,211) $ 536,173
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales 78,084 307,026 21,062 (13,211 392,961
Selling, general and administrative 3,946 68,509 6,336 — 78,791
Research and development 2,879 7,304 1,437 — 11,620
Acquisition-related costs — — — —_ —
Benefit plan curtailment loss — — — — —
Impairment loss on Deer Park facility — — — — —
84,909 382,839 28,835 (13,211 483,372
Operating Earnings 10,151 42,423 227 — 52,801
Non-operating income (expense)
interest income 1,003 172 96 — 1,271
Interest expense (9,119) — — — (9,119)
Other, net (76) 41 (284) — (319)
(8,192) 213 (188) — (8,167)
(Loss) earnings from continuing
operations before income taxes 1,959 42,636 39 — 44,634
Income tax (benefit) expense (1,581) 16,909 238 — 15,566
(Loss) earnings from continuing operations 3,540 25,727 (199) — 29,068
Equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries 25,528 — — (25,528) —_
29,068 25,727 (199) (25,528) 29,068
Earnings from discontinued operations — — — — —
Net earnings $ 29,068 $ 25727 $ (199) $ (25,528) $ 29,068
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EDO Corporation Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows December 31, 2004

66

EDO Corporation
Parent Company - Subsidiary
Only Guarantors  Non-Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
Operating Activities:
Earnings from continuing operations $ 29,068 $ 25727 $ (199) $ (25,528) $ 29,068
Adjustments to earnings to arrive at cash
provided (used) by continuing operations:
Depreciation 1,697 7,933 846 — 10,476
Amortization — 4,561 1,003 — 5,564
Deferred tax benefit — (660) — — (660)
Loss (gain) on sale of prop-
erty, plant and equipment 62 193 — — 255
Deferred compensation expense 916 — — —_ 916
Non-cash Employee Stock Owner-
ship Plan compensation expense 4,330 — — — 4,330
Dividends on unallocated Employee
Stock Ownership Plan shares 272 — — — 272
Common shares issued for directors’ fees 140 — — — 140
Income tax benefit from stock options 1,134 — — — 1,134
Changes in operating assets and liabilities,
excluding effects of acquisitions:
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries (25,528) — — 25,528 —
Intercompany 18,152 (17,685) (467) — —
Accounts receivable (6,077) (12,682) (748) — (19,507)
Inventories 1,742 (18,691) (1,185) — (18,134)
Prepayments and other assets 2,341 1,253 (6) — 3,588
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other (2,042) 4,169 617 — 2,744
Contract advances and deposits (444) 5,945 — — 5,501
Cash provided (used) by continuing operations 25,763 63 (139) — 25,687
Net cash provided by discontinued operations
Investing Activities:
Purchase of plant and equipment (4,714) (8,904) (588) — (14,206)
Payments received on notes receivable 1,200 — — — 1,200
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired 301 — — — 301
Cash used by investing activities (3,213) (8,904) (588) — (12,705)
Financing Activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 1,535 — — — 1,535
Proceeds from management group receivables — 130 — — 130
Payment of common share cash dividends (2,395) — — — (2,395)
Cash (used) provided by financing activities (860) 130 — — (730)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 21,6590 (8,711) (727} — 12,252
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 70,093 11,371 5,168 — 86,632
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 91,783 $ 2,660 $ 4441 $ — $ 98,884




EDO Corporation Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet December 31, 2003

EDO Corporation
Parent Company  Subsidiary
Only Guarantors Non-Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 70,093 $ 11,371 $ 5,68 — $ 86,632
Accounts receivable, net 29,087 101,233 3,984 (1) 134,303
Inventories 5,320 26,124 3,289 — 34,733
Deferred income tax asset, net 4,836 — — — 4,836
Notes receivable 1,600 — — — 1,600
Prepayments and other 1,010 3,014 330 — 4,354
Total current assets 111,946 141,742 12,771 (n 266,458
Investment in subsidiaries 261,950 — — (261,950) —
Property, plant and equipment, net 6,966 20,674 3,715 — 31,355
Notes receivable 6,538 — — — 6,538
Goodwill — 82,919 9,608 — 92,527
Other intangible assets, net — 42,276 13,622 — 55,898
Deferred income tax asset, net 20,532 — — — 20,532
Other assets 19,850 1,538 — — 21,388
S 427,782 $ 289,149 $ 39716 $(261,951) S 494,696
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 31,866 S 44,679 S 6,004 $ M 82,548
Contract advances and deposits 2,788 5,407 — — 8,195
Total current liabilities 34,654 50,086 6,004 m 90,743
income taxes payable 2,195 — — — 2,195
Long-term debt 137,800 — — — 137,800
Deferred income tax liabilities, net (82) — 82 — —
Post retirement benefits obligations 61,035 10,863 — — 71,898
Environmental obligation 1,728 — — — 1,728
Intercompany accounts — 126,326 26,611 (152,937} —
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred shares — — — — —
Common shares 19,832 99 — (99) 19,832
Additional paid-in capital 150,097 25,221 6,486 (31,707} 150,097
Retained earnings 69,059 80,878 548 (81,426) 69,059
Accumulated other comprehensive
loss, net of income tax benefit (29,512) 79 (15) 167 (29,281)
Treasury shares (1,255) (4,052) — 4,052 (1,255)
Unearned ESOP shares (17,290) — — — (17,290)
Management group receivables — (351) — — (351)
Deferred compensation under
Long-Term Incentive Plan (479) — — : — (479)
Total shareholders’ equity 190,452 101,874 7,019 (109,013) 190,332
$ 427,782 $ 289,149 $ 39,716 $(261,951) $ 494,696
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EDO Corporation Condensed Consolidating Statement of Earnings December 31, 2003

EDO Corporation
Parent Company  Subsidiary
Only Guarantors  Non-Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
Continuing Operations:
Net Sales $ 91,420 $ 371,306 $ 16,047 $ (18,106) $ 460,667
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales 76,684 271,384 8,297 (18,106) 338,259
Selling, general and administrative 5,420 60,132 6,303 — 71,855
Research and development 2,970 5,210 414 — 8,594
Acquisition-related costs 250 679 — — 929
Benefit plan curtailment loss 942 — — — 942
Impairment loss on Deer Park facility — 9,160 — — 9,160
86,266 346,565 15,014 (18,106) 429,739
Operating Earnings 5,154 24,741 1,033 — 30,928
Non-operating income (expense)
Interestincome 630 282 29 — 941
Interest expense (9,093) — — — (9,093)
Other, net (42) 321 — — 279
(8,505) 603 29 — (7,873)
(Loss) earnings from continuing
operations before income taxes (3,351) 25,344 1,062 — 23,055
Income tax (benefit) expense (1,068) 10,198 514 — 9,644
(Loss) earnings from continuing operations (2,283) 15,146 548 — 13,411
Equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries 15,694 — — (15,694) —
13,411 15,146 548 (15,694) 13,411
Earnings from discontinued operations 1,398 — — — 1,398

Net earnings $ 14,809 $ 15,146 S 548 $ (15,694) $ 14,809




EDO Corporation Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows December 31, 2003

EDO Corporation
Parent Company Subsidiary
Only Guarantors Non-Guarantors  Eliminations Consolidated
Operating Activities:
Earnings from continuing operations $ 134N $ 15,146 $ 548 (15,694) $ 1341
Adjustments to earnings to arrive at cash
provided (used) by continuing operations:
Depreciation 1,748 10,082 350 — 12,180
Amortization — 4,466 419 — 4,885
Deferred tax benefit (7,227) 387 — — {6,840)
Bad debt expense — 568 — — 568
Loss (gain) on sale of property,
plant and equipment 6 (137) — — (131)
Impairment loss on assets held for sale — 9,160 — — 9,160
Deferred compensation expense 289 — — — 289
Non-cash Employee Stock Owner-
ship Plan compensation expense 3,281 —_— — — 3,281
Non-cash stock option com-
pensation expense 292 — — — 292
Dividends on unallocated Employee
Stock Ownership Plan shares 292 — — — 292
Common shares issued for directors' fees 108 — — — 108
Income tax benefit from stock options 328 — — — 328
Changes in operating assets and liabilities,
excluding effects of acquisitions:
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries (15,694) — — 15,694 —
Intercompany 33,636 (36,859) 3,223 — —_
Accounts receivable (4,500) 217 1,080 — (3,203)
Inventories (4,228) 5,190 444 — 1,406
Prepayments and other assets 4,334 (295) (7) — 4,032
Contribution to defined benefit pension plan (5,000) — — — (5,000)
Accounts payable, accrued li-
abilities and other 22,406 (27,447) (361) — (5,402)
Contract advances and deposits (8,297) (3,785) — — (12,082)
Cash provided (used) by
continuing operations 35,185 (23,307) 5,696 — 17,574
Net cash provided by discontinued operations 79 — — — 79
Investing Activities:
Purchase of plant and equipment (3,224) (5,113) (528) — (8,865)
Proceeds from sale of property,
plant and equipment — 21,304 — — 21,304
Payments received on notes receivable 300 1,085 — — 1,385
Restricted cash 27,347 — — — 27,347
Cash paid for acquisitions,
net of cash acquired (94,188) — — — (94,188)
Cash (used) provided by investing activities (69,765) 17,276 (528) — (53,017)
Financing Activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 268 — — — 268
Proceeds from management
group receivables — 242 — — 242
Repayments of acquired debt (8,660) — — — (8,660)
Payment of common share cash dividends (2,367) — — — (2,367)
Cash (used) provided by financing activities (10,759) 242 — — (10,517)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (45,260) (5,789) 5,168 — (45,881)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 115,353 17,160 — — 132,513
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 70,093 $ 11,371 $ 5,168 — $ 86,632

EDO Corporation 2004 Annual Report

69




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
EDO CorporaTion AND SuBsiDiARtEsS— DecemBer 31, 2004, 2003 anp 2002

EDO Corporation Condensed Consolidating Statement of Earnings December 31, 2002

EDO Corporation
Parent Company  Subsidiary
Only Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
Continuing Operations:
Net Sales $ 87,154 $ 254,772 $ (13,050) $ 328,876
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales 68,827 185,073 (13,050) 240,850
Selling, general and administrative 5,891 41,693 — 47,584
Research and development 3,698 4,794 — 8,492
Write-off of purchased in-process research
and development and related costs 42 525 — 567
Defined benefit pension plan curtailment loss 1,998 — — 1,998
80,456 232,085 (13,050) 299,491
Operating Earnings 6,698 22,687 — 29,385
Non-operating income (expense)
Interest income 1,515 214 — 1,729
Interest expense (6,685) — — (6,685)
Other, net (301) 206 — (95)
(5471) 420 — (5,051)
Earnings from continuing operations
before income taxes 1,227 23,107 — 24,334
Income tax expense 1,048 9,294 — 10,342
Earnings from continuing operations 179 13,813 — 13,992
Equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries 10,450 — (10,450) —
10,629 13,813 (10,450) 13,992

Cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle, net of tax — (3,363) — (3,363)

Net earnings $ 10,629 $ 10,450 $ (10,450) $ 10,629




EDO Corporation Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows December 31, 2002

EDO Corporation
Parent Company  Subsidiary
Only Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Operating Activities:
Earnings from continuing operations $ 10,629 S 10,450 $ (10,450) S 10,629

Adjustments to earnings to arrive at cash
provided by continuing operations:

Depreciation 1,751 8,614 — 10,365
Amortization — 956 — 956
Deferred tax benefit (2,984) — — (2,984)
Write-off of purchased in-process re-

search and development — 150 — 150
Bad debt expense — 407 — 407
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment — 53 — 53
Deferred compensation expense 201 — — 201
Non-cash Employee Stock Owner-

ship Plan compensation expense 4,043 — — 4,043
Dividends on unallocated Employee

Stock Ownership Plan shares 312 — — 312
Common shares issued for directors’ fees 142 — — 142
income tax benefit from stock options

and Long-Term Incentive Plan 713 — — 713
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle 3,363 — — 3,363

Changes in operating assets and liabilities,
excluding effects of acquisitions:

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries (10,450) — 10,450 —
Intercompany 1,412 (1,412) —_ —
Accounts receivable (197) (2,322) — (2,519)
Inventories 944 (3,870} — (2,926)
Prepayments and other assets 3,859 (3,639) — 220
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other 9,136 (3,919) — 5,217
Contract advances and deposits (3,484) 7,059 — 3,575
Cash provided by operations 19,390 12,527 — 31,917
Investing Activities:
Purchase of plant and equipment (3,099) (3,994) — (7,093)
Payments received on notes receivable 300 50 — 350
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment — 1 — 1
Restricted cash (27.347) — — (27,347)
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired (59,024) — — (59,024)
Cash used by investing activities (89,170) (3,943) — (93,113)
Financing Activities:
Issuance of convertible subordinated notes 137,800 — — 137,800
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 486 — — 486
Proceeds from management group receivables — 252 — 252
Payment made on note payable (500) — — (500)
Payment of common share cash dividends (2,360) — — (2,360)
Cash provided by financing activities 135,426 252 — 135,678
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 65,646 8,836 — 74,482
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 49,707 8,324 — 58,031
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $115,353 $ 17,160 $ — $132,513
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
EDO Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of EDO Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004
and 2003, and the related consolidated stacements of earnings, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2004. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by man-
agement, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial posi-
tion of EDO Corporation and subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and 2003 and cthe results of their operations and their cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples.

As discussed in Note 1{f) to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2002, the Company changed its method of
accounting for goodwill to conform with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets.”

é/mﬁf ¥ LLP
New York, New York

February 23, 2005

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

(Unaupiten)

The following table sets forth unaudited quarterly financial information for 2004 and 2003 (in thousands, except per share

amounts).
First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Net sales from continuing
operations $ 110,877 S 94377 $ 126,290 $ 111,736 $ 129,875 $ 118,783 S 169,131 $ 135,771
Net earnings (loss):
Continuing operations 3,857 2,982° 4173 (1,626)° 6,874 5,559¢ 14,161 6,496°
Discontinued operations — — — 1,398 — — — —
Earnings (loss) 3,857 2,982 4173 (228) 6,874 5,559 14,161 6,496
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic:
Continuing operations 0.22 017 0.24 (0.09) 0.39 0.32 0.79 0.37
Discontinued operations — — — 0.08 — — — —
Earnings (loss) - Basic 0.22 017 0.24 (0.01) 0.39 032 0.79 0.37
Diluted:
Continuing operations 0.22 0.17 0.23 {0.09) 0.35 0.30 0.68 0.34
Discontinued operations c - — — 0.08 — — — —_
Earnings (loss) - Diluted 0.17 0.17 0.23 (0.01) 0.35 0.30 0.68 0.34

(@) Includes pre-tax acquisition-related costs of $0.2 million.
(b) Includes pre-tax acquisition-related costs of $0.2 million and an impairment loss on the facility at Deer Park of $9.2 million.
() Includes pre-tax acquisition-related costs of $0.2 million.

(d) Includes pre-tax acquisition-related costs of $0.3 million and a $0.9 million non-qualified pension plan curtailment loss.
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The Annual Shareholders' Meeting will be held on Tuesday, April 26, 2005 at 9:00 AM.
at The Grand America Hotel, 555 South Main Street, Salt Lake City, Utah 841 11.
Notice of the meeting and proxy statement are being mailed with this report to
shareholders of record as of March |1, 2005.

EDO

William ). Frost, 212.716.2006, Fax 212.716.2050
william.frost@edocorp.com

William A. Walkowiak, CFA, 212.716.2038, Fax 212.716.2050
ir@edocorp.com
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Certain statements made in this annual report, including statements about future revenues
and long-term organic revenue growth, as well as annual revenue expectations, are
forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995. These statements are based on current expectations, estimates and
projections about the Company's business based, in part, on assumptions made by
management. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve
risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. Therefore, actual
outcomes and results may differ materially from what is expressed or forecasted in such
forward-looking statements due to numerous factors, including those described above and
the following: changes in demand for the Company's products, product mix, the timing of
customer orders and deliveries, changes in the government’s funding priorities, the impact
of competitive products and pricing, difficulties encountered in the integration of acquired
businesses and other risks discussed from time to time in the Company's Securities and
Exchange Commission filings and reports. In addition, such statements could be affected
by general industry and market conditions and growth rates, and general domestic and
international economic conditions. Such forward-looking statements speak only as of the
date on which they are made, and the Company does not undertake any obfigation to
update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date of
this annual report.
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